DOCUMENT RESUME

ED 067 891 EM 010 384

AUTHOR Schramm, Wilbur; Nelson, Lyle

TITLE The Financing of Public Television.

INSTITUTION Aspen Inst. for Humanistic Studies, Palo Alto,

Calif.

SPONS AGENCY Academy for Educational Development, Inc., New York,

N.Y.

PUB DATE Oct 72 NOTE 69p.

AVAILABLE FROM Communications and Society, 770 Welch Road, Palo

Alto, California 94304 (\$2.00 each up to five copies;

\$1.50 each for more than five)

EDRS PRICE MF-\$0.65 HC-\$3.29

DESCRIPTORS *Educational Television; Federal Aid; *Financial

Problems; *Financial Support; Foundation Programs; Private Financial Support; Public Support; *Public

Television: Television

ABSTRACT

After study of the methods and level of financing of public television today, the authors conclude that the political and economic problems of public television are tied together. They note that public television receives far less support per capita in the United States than in other leading countries, and efforts to increase the amount and quality of local programing at the present level of funding are academic -- parceling all the Federal revenues out to local stations would purchase only a few minutes weekly of low-cost programs. An adequate schedule of local, regional, and national programs, they suggest, would cost over two and a half times the system's existing budget, and the situation is likely to grow worse unless planning to prevent duplicative new stations is introduced. An examination of potential sources of funding did not provide grounds for any optimism -- it appears that the Federal Government cannot abdicate its responsibility for this system. (An appendix contains some recommendations made by participants at a conference convened by the Aspen program to discuss this report.) (RH)

in capital

The Financing of Public Television

Aspen Program on Communications and Society

FILMED FROM BEST AVAILABLE COPY

Additional copies of this report are available at \$2.00 each for up to five copies and at \$1.50 each for more than five from:

Communications and Society 770 Welch Road Palo Alto California 94304

ERIC

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH,
EDUCATION & WELFARE
OFFICE OF EDUCATION
THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN REPRODUCED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED FROM
THE PERSON OR ORGANIZATION ORIGINATING IT. POINTS OF VIEW OR OPINIONS STATED DO NOT NECESSARILY
REPRESENT OFFICIAL OFFICE OF EDUCATION POSITION OR POLICY.

The Financing of Public Television

bу

Wilbur Schramm Professor of Communication

and

Lyle Nelson Professor of Communication

with the assistance of Trevor Brown and Bruce McKay

Institute for Communication Research Department of Communication Stanford University

Introduction by
Douglass Cater
Director
Communications and Society

Communications and Society
a joint program of the
Aspen Institute for Humanistic Studies
and the
Academy for Educational Development, Inc.

October 1972

PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE THIS COPYRIGHTED MATERIAL HAS BEEN GRANTED
BY
MIKE NYHOO

ASPEN PROGRAM on Communitarions
TO ERIC AND ORGANIZATIONS OPERATING
UNDER AGREEMENTS WITH THE U.S. OFFICE
OF EDUCATION. FURTHER REPRODUCTION
OUTSIDE THE ERIC SYSTEM REQUIRES PERMISSION OF THE COPYRIGHT OWNER."

Copyright © 1972 by Aspen Program on Communications and Society.



Introduction

The Aspen Program on Communications and Society is concerned about the fate of Public Broadcasting in America. Barely five years have passed since the Act bearing that name was signed into law, enlarging in a major way the federal commitment to build a non-commercial broadcast system of genuine worth. Measured quantitatively, public broadcasting has managed miraculous growth during the past decade -- a fourfold increase in TV stations, and six times as many hours of weekly broadcasting nationwide. Yet public broadcasting today is in serious crisis. The threat of catastrophe looms over its future.

In an effort to develop better understanding of this situation, Professors Wilbur Schramm and Lyle Nelson, of Stanford University, were requested to make a study of the Financing of Public Television -- the first independent evaluation since the Carnegie Report which preceded the legislation of 1967. Several conclusions emerge clearly from their analysis:

- The political predicament of public broadcasting is inextricably tied up with its economic plight. Despite growth, both the system and the local stations are in a greater bind than ever before. Revenues have not kept pace with increased costs and expanded obligations.
- Compared to non-commercial systems in other leading countries, public television in America exists on a pittance, receiving less than one-fourth as much per capita as Britain's BBC TV, and just over one-fourth Japan's NHK.
- Any effort to increase the amount and quality of local programming is purely academic at the present level of funding. To parcel out all the federal revenues among the stations would purchase only a few minutes weekly of low-cost programs.
- An adequate schedule of local, regional, and national programs would cost over two and a half times as much as the system's existing budget.
- Unless an overall plan is developed -- which includes "family planning" to control duplicative new stations -- the situation is likely to grow worse.



These are grim findings and they are not relieved by the Schramm-Nelson assessment of potential sources for increased funding. One additional conclusion appears evident: the federal government, having launched public broadcasting on its present course, cannot now abdicate its responsibility for helping this system achieve its potential.

Even to mention a sizable increase in budget throws fear into those who are bewildered by the current uncertainties. It is difficult to contemplate how to reach a new plateau when the system has so much difficulty at the present one. But the greater danger lies in standing still while public broadcasting is torn apart by economic stresses.

During this decade we will be entering the era of "television of abundance." The myriad-channel cable, together with the satellite, the video cassette, and other new technologies, will bring about an explosion of the ways by which we communicate. Public broadcasting has a major claim to stake in this communications revolution -- for education, health services, and social purposes as yet unexplored. To default on this challenge could mean closing off an opportunity that may not return once the wired nation has become a reality.

Last July, the Aspen Program convened a small conference to review a draft of the Schramm-Nelson study and assess its implications. A number of proposals which came out of that meeting are included as an Appendix to this document. The most urgent conclusion is the need to enlarge the constituency of those who are concerned about the present peril and future promise of public broadcasting. No large and noisy bands are likely to march behind its banner. Indeed, the nation's communication system is not a subject which seizes the popular imagination. Yet, less fateful causes have been advanced by purposeful citizens who take the trouble to understand the choices that lie ahead. We hope that this report will contribute to wider public concern for Public Broadcasting's future.

Douglass Cater



Contents

$T_{22}+\infty$	روان	ction	111
Intr	oau	cvvon	221

The Financing of Public Television

Contents 7) Tables vii Foreword

A DECADE OF GROWTH

Program Services Coverage 2

PUBLIC TELEVISION TODAY

Commercial and Non-Commercial Television Types of Stations and Their Finances Current Sources of Support Current Programming Expenditures 17

ASSUMPTIONS AND COST PROJECTIONS

The Costs of a Nationwide PTV Service The "Service" Approach to Cost Estimating 24 Operating Cost Estimate 30 Capital Cost Estimate 34

FUNDING 38

Sources of Support 38

- 1. The Private Sector
- 2. State and Local Tax Support 41
- 3. Revenue-Producing Operations
- 4. Dedicated Tax Revenue
- 5. Federal General Revenue Funds 47

Support Distribution

- 1. Distribution Agencies
- 2. Distribution Formula Proposals 49 Federal Funding Considerations
- 53

Appendix

5. CONCLUSIONS

ASPEN CONFERENCE

Recommendations for Public Broadcasting's Future List of Participants 59

Tables

1.42

Taken.

J

6

I

1.	A Deca	de of Growth
	1.	The Growth of Public Television, 1961-71 2
	2.	Average Weekly Broadcast Hours, PTV Stations, 1971 3
	3.	Total Year Broadcast Hours, PTV Stations, 1971 3
	4.	Average Weekly Broadcast Hours, 1960-71 4
	5.	Grade "A" Coverage Populations, 1971 4
2.	Public	Television Today
	6.	US Non-commercial Compared with Commercial TV Stations 7
	7.	Characteristics of PTV Station Types, 1971 g
	8.	Mean Income & Expenditures By PTV Station Type, 1966-71 11
	9.	Operations & Production Expenses By PTV Station Type, 1971 12
	10.	Sources of Funds for Public Television Stations, 1966-71 13
	11.	Sources of Funds By PTV Station Type, 1966-71, Summary 15
	12.	Sources of Funds By PTV Station Type, 1966-71, Detail 16
	13.	Public Television Programming Sources, 1971 17
	14.	Distribution of PTV Stations' Broadcast Time Per Week by General and School Programming, 1962-71 19
3.	Assump	tions and Cost Projections
	15.	Carnegie Commission Estimates, 1967 24
	16.	Television Service Costs By Country 26
	17.	Total Annual Minimum Operating Cost, Nationwide PTV Service 32
	18.	Nationwide PTV System Capital Cost Estimates, 1966-72 34
	19.	Capital Cost Estimate 35



The Financing of Public Television

Foreword

That public television is in serious financial difficulty is a statement which will surprise no one. It has ever been thus.

From the day in 1953 when the nation's first "educational television" station limped onto the air in Houston, those closest to this evolving system of broadcasting have warned that inadequate financing posed the biggest single obstacle to its continued growth and stability.

Now, it would seem, the system -- and the nation -- are reaping the harvest of years of financial neglect. The national program service, largely supported by annual funds appropriated to the Corporation for Public Broadcasting and by foundations, is struggling to stay alive under increasingly severe attacks from several quarters. Local stations are experiencing financial problems which have stymied development in many cases and have been seriously crippling in others.

It is not the purpose of this paper to enter into the political arena or to attempt to assess the forces which have contributed, and are contributing, to the present embattled state of public broadcasting. Rather, our assignment is limited to an examination of the financial condition of public television -- its needs, resources, and some of the policy implications stemming from various funding possibilities.

We do not mean to downgrade the importance of public radio or to overlook the potential of instructional television. Both are important, but public television is where the crunch is.

Neither do we consider it the function of a paper of this kind to propose final solutions or to set forth detailed policy recommendations. Its purpose is to present and analyze alternatives, together with the background relevant to whatever policy judgment is made. In an area of such vital importance to the long-run public interest, it is essential that these issues and alternatives be as widely known and as fully discussed as possible.



If this paper does nothing more than bring the issue to the attention of some who have only vaguely considered it, if it provokes a wider public discussion of the current problem and the various solutions which have been put forward, and if it results finally in a congealing of public attitudes into a public position, then it will have more than served its purpose.

The authors have reviewed carefully a great deal of documentation dealing with this subject, including almost all public records, the Carnegie Commission report on Educational Television, the analyses and recommendations for that report by Arthur D. Little, Inc., and papers by Dr. Joseph A. Pechman and Professor Dick Netzer. We owe a special debt of gratitude to the Corporation for Public Broadcasting, especially to Ralph Nicholson, Robert Tolbert, and Young Lee, for assistance in assembling the financial statistics. We have also had exceptional cooperation from the Public Broadcasting Service, WNET/13, U.S. Office of Education, Department of Health, Education and Welfare, the National Association of Educational broadcasters, and other agencies.

To a great extent, however, the statistical base rests on new data gathered by Trevor Brown, a doctoral candidate at Stanford University, as part of a four-month study of records available at CPB, PBS, WNET/13, and several local stations. Bruce McKay, another Stanford graduate student, provided assistance in preparing some sections of the original draft, in revising the draft paper for presentation at the Aspen Conference, and in coordinating the final revisions of the report.

Taken together, the information which we have gathered presents on the one hand a striking picture of progress in the face of adversity, and on the other the effects of slow decay resulting from neglect of basic needs over a long period of time. The question which emerges is the extent to which this nation is actually willing to stand behind its committment to public broadcasting.

Stanford University Stanford, California October 1972 Wilbur Schramm Lyle Nelson

1. A Decade of Growth

In 1961, when there were only 56 non-commercial television stations in the United States, operating at an annual cost of under \$15 million, optimistic predictions were being made concerning the future of that kind of television. The most widely quoted of these were in the publication ETV: The Next Ten Years (1961) and resulted from a detailed survey of plans in various communities, long-range plans of universities, colleges, and school systems, and expansion expectations of stations already on the air.

In essence, this study resulted in a "low," a "medium," and a "high" forecast which provided for the addition, respectively, of 50, 75, and 125 new stations in the next ten years. Actual figures, said the report, should be somewhere near the "medium" estimate, "barring the possibility of substantial federal and state support."

But there was more local interest than might have been anticipated, and there was considerable federal and state support. As a result, the growth of what was then called educational television (now public television) was greater than even the most optimistic of the estimates made in 1961. Although the "high" estimate predicted 180 stations by 1971, the actual growth was to 207 stations in 1971, and to 224 at this writing. Table 1 on the next page shows the growth in the number of stations and in financial support which actually took place, compared with the 1961 forecast.

PROGRAM SERVICES

The 56 non-commercial stations on the air in 1961 were broadcasting each week a little more than 2,100 hours of "educational television." In 1971, the 207 stations operating were putting on the air in an average week over 12,650 hours of "public television." This sixfold increase in broadcast hours in the short span of a decade is even more dramatic evidence of service where it counts -- service to viewers -- than sheer numbers of stations and increases in operating budgets.



		Number of Stations	Cumulative Capital Costs (\$ millions)	Annual Operating Budget (\$ millions)
1961 Forecast	Low estimate	105	53	29
of System Size in 1971	Medium	130	66	33
	High estimate	180	84	46
Actual System	Year: 1961	56	29	15
Sizes	1966	117	108	34
	1971	207	211	113
Actual Systems	1961	(56)	29	15
in purchasing power of 1961	1966	(117)	100	31
dollars	1971	(207)	156	84

Sources: The forecast is from "The Financing of Educational Television," in ETV: The Next Ten Years (Stanford, California: Institute for Communication Research, Stanford University, 1961), pp. 166-190.

The figures on actual size of systems were supplied by the Corporation for Public Broadcasting.

The figures on purchasing power are projected from tables in *Economic Indicators*, prepared by the U.S. Council of Economic Advisers.

Tables 2 and 3 indicate the size of the present program service, and Table 4 tells something of the rate of growth since 1961 -- from an average of 39 hours per week per station to 49.5 hours in 1966 and to 74.6 hours in 1971. Obviously, these figures reflect both the larger number of stations and the growing adequacy of local station staffs, and they also are indicative of the rising quantity of the national program service during that time. Unfortunately, there is no way to take quantitatively into account the notable rise in the quality of that service.

COVERAGE

As of November 1, 1971, with 212 stations (90 VHF, 122 UHF) on the air, public television was providing a signal which included within its Grade "A" coverage contour areas about 71.5 percent of the people in the United States, or about 148 million Americans. (See Table 5.) CPB reported that coverage



Table 2.	Average Weel Public Telev			scal Year 197	71	
		Peak Seaso 36 school			ner Season on-school	-
	Total hours per station per week		Percent General Programs	Total hours per station per week		Percent General Programs
193 public TV stations	74.6	43.4	56.6	44.2	5.0	95.0
52 community stations	79.2	40.8	59.2	47.4	5.4	94.6
23 school stations	62.1	52.9	47.1	40.2	10.6	89.4
60 state and municipal stations	81.7	48.8	51.2	45.8	4.8	95.2
58 university stations	68.0	35.9	64.1	41.0	3.2	96.8
Source: Corp	oration for	Public Bro	oadcasting	, 1971 Survey	v.	

-	otal Year Broaublic Televisi			r 1971	
	—	rogramming	 	rogramming Percent	Total Hours
	Hours	Percent	Hours	Percent	110013
193 public TV stations	226,165	35.4	413,446	64.6	639,611
52 community stations	58,864	32.4	122,795	67.6	181,659
23 school stations	27,997	45.5	33,552	54.5	61,549
60 state and municipal stations	89,989	40.5	132,173	59.5	222,162
58 university stations	49,315	28.3	124,926	71.7	174,241

Source: Corporation for Public Broadcasting, 1971 Survey.

			cast Hou				
	1960	1962	1964	1966	1968	1970	1971
Stations reporting	56	62	88	115	153	190	193
Average hours per station per week	39.0	41.9	42.3	49.5	56.1	65.3	74.6

Sources: 1960-1970 figures are from One Week of Educational Television

(Bloomington, Indiana: National Instructional Television Center,

1971).

1971 figures are from the Corporation for Public Broadcasting,

1971 Survey.

Table 5.		"A" Coverage Television			ovember 1, 1	1971		
	(Populat	tion figures	in	millions)				
	VHI	Coverage		UHI	Coverage		Total Cove	rage
	Stations	Population	%	Stations	Population Population	%	Population	%
212 public TV stations	90	59.7	100	122	88.5	100	148.3	100
59 community stations	23	31.0	52.0	36	50.4	56.9	81.4	54.9
23 school stations	7	2.9	4.8	16	10.1	11.4	13.0	8.8
68 state and municipal stations	28	11.0	18.3	40	19.7	22.2	30.6	20.6
62 university stations	32	14.9	24.9	30	8.4	9.5	23.2	15.7

Source: Corporation for Public Broadcasting.

area populations increased from 144 million in 1969 to 156 million by the end of 1971 -- from about 71 percent to about 75 percent of the total US population. [A 1971 study by Louis Harris and Associates, Inc. taking into account UHF penetration problems placed effective coverage at 63 percent of the population -- still some 131.5 million Americans.]

In summary, the growth of non-commercial television during the Sixties far outran even the most optimistic predictions made at the beginning of the decade. Non-commercial television went into the Sixties with a few more than 50 stations, and at the end of the decade was just passing 200. It was available to twice as many people, and on a nationwide basis offered over six times as many broadcast hours, many of them in color.

More importantly, it accepted the challenge of a new and more professional standard of programming, and was able to present a national program service of high quality offered first through NET, and later through PBS.

Financially, the decade of growth saw a capital investment of more than \$ 150 million, a near-tripling of employees (to 5,385 full-time and 2,257 part-time in 1970), and a multiplication of annual operating budgets by a factor of more than five.

Not only did the system grow internally but it reached more and more viewers. By the end of 1971, CPB reports, over 51,000,000 Americans were tuning in to public television programs each week.

In spite of this spectacular expansion, however, one statement in the 1961 report, ETV: The Next Ten Years, remains unchanged. On page 175 that report said: "Educational television is in financial difficulty." To analyze why this is still true, taking stock of the situation and the needs, is the primary purpose of the remainder of this paper.



2. Public Television Today

As this report was being prepared, another new public television station signed onto the air for the first time, bringing the national total to 224 stations. But the phenomenal growth in the number of stations is in many ways a misleading indicator of the overall health of the national public television system. In this section we will look more closely at public television in comparison to its commercial counterpart, and at the PTV stations themselves: the services they provide, their sources of support, and how they spend their money.

COMMERCIAL AND NON-COMMERCIAL TELEVISION

It needs to be remembered at the outset that public television is still only a little brother of commercial television. Only about 15 percent of television program transmission in this country is public television, and less than 5 percent of the money for support of television goes into this form of broadcasting.

Table 6 provides a comparison of non-commercial with commercial television station operations in recent years. While there were 28.2 percent as many non-commercial as commercial stations in 1970, for instance, these stations were operating on only 6.2 percent as much revenue.

Even more significant are the differing rates of growth behind these figures. The revenue of PTV stations increased by about 143 percent between 1966 and 1971 (46 percent of that in the last year, and part of that -- as noted in Table 6 -- due to accounting changes), but the number of stations also increased 83 percent during the same period. As a result, the mean expenditure per station increased only 36 percent during a period when inflation alone would have raised expenditures by 25 percent. For the average station, therefore, the increase was insufficient to provide for technical improvements, much less to expand local program services or embark on color conversion projects.

Table 6. US Non-Comme:	rcial Compa	ared with l	JS Commerci	ial Televis	sion Statio	ons
	(Financi	al figures	in \$ the	ousands)		
STA: FIONS	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
NON-COMMERCIAL						
Number of stations	113	119	146	189	195	207
Total station revenue	58,315	54,324	66,719	84,928	103,641	141,982*
Mean per station	516	457	457	449	5 30	686
Total station expense	57,492	62,238	67,091	96,938	107,228	142,838
Mean per station	509	523	460	513	550	690
COMMERCIAL STATIONS						
Number of stations	613	626	655	680	690	695
Total station revenue	1,291,000	1,322,100	1,504,400	1,652,200	1,663,600	#
Mean per station	2,106	2,112	2,297	2,391	2,408	
Total station expense	888,900	963,300	1,066,200	1,191,200	1,259,800	
Mean per station	1,450	1,539	1,628	1,752	1,823	
NON-COMMERCIAL AS A FRACTION OF COMMERCIAL STATIONS						
Number of stations	18.4 %	19.0 %	22.3 %	27.8 %	28.2 %	29.8 %
Total station revenue	4.5 %	4.1 %	4.4 %	5.1 %	6.2 %	#
Mean per station	24.5 %	21.6 %	19.9 %	18.8 %	22.0 %	
Total station expense	6.5 %	6.5 %	6.3 %	8.1 %	8.5 %	
Mean per station	35.1 %	34.0 %	28.3 %	29.3 %	30.2 %	

Notes: 1. Revenues and expenditures reported are for stations only, and do not include network operations.

- * 2. To some extent apparent increases in 1971 PTV station revenues and expenditures are the result of the consolidation of NET operations into New York station WNET/13.
 - 3. If the non-commercial figures were analyzed by *licensees* rather than by stations, the revenue and expenditures would in each case be larger, and the difference between non-commercial and commercial stations therefore less than in the table above. Thus, for the last three years (in \$ thousands):

 1969
 1970
 1.71

 Mean revenue per licensee
 690
 773
 1,068

 Mean expense per licensee
 788
 800
 1,074

Sources: 1966-68 figures for non-commercial stations are from the NAEB annual surveys. 1969-71 non-commercial figures are from CPB surveys. [The reporting agency for non-commercial station data changed in 1969 from NAEB to CPB. The reporting bases of these two organizations may not be strictly comparable.]

Figures for commercial stations are from FCC annual reports.
FCC figures for 1971 were not yet available at this writing.

It should also be noted that although there were significant increases in 1971, many stations still bear the scars of their 1966-1970 struggles. During that period, station income increased 78 percent but the number of stations went up 73 percent so that the average station was able to spend only 8 percent more at the end of the period than in 1966.

Comparable figures for commercial stations are not yet available to us for 1971. However, those through 1970, when compared with PTV stations for the same period, show the commercial stations to be in a very much healthier situation, although the sharp increase in PTV station income in 1971 may have offset the differences slightly. (In part, the PTV increase in 1971 may be misleading because a considerable share of it apparently results from the shift in accounting classifications of NET operations from "network" to "station" income. Sufficiently detailed figures to allow compensation for this accounting change were not available as this report was being prepared.)

What is clear, however, is that public television entered the period on a precarious financial base and was able to increase the average income per station only slightly at a time when technical and programming obligations were growing considerably.

TYPES OF STATIONS AND THEIR FINANCES

A further consideration in assessing the fiscal condition of public television -- and perhaps the most serious flaw in any thinking that would lead to the creation of a national network similar to the BBC -- is the different types of ownership of non-commercial VHF and UHF stations in the United States. Essentially, there are four ownership groups: community, school system, state and municipal, and university stations. Table 7 indicates some of the differences in characteristics of these various types of stations.

It is significant that 59 (27 percent) of the 212 public television stations on the air as of November 1, 1971 were responsible for 55 percent of the total national coverage of PTV, 57 percent of the local programming expenditures, and probably at least half of the total public television audience. These are the "community" stations, licensed to non-profit organizations, mostly in large cities. During the day they typically provide services for local school systems and children's programming. In the evening they offer a varied program service for the community. Several of these community stations also serve as chief producing agencies for national programs distributed by the Public Broadcasting Service and the regional networks.



Table 7.	Character	ristics of PT	V Station Type	s, 1971	
Station Ownership	Number of Stations	PTV Population Coverage	Local Programming Expenditures	Total Operations Expenditures	Total Station Revenues
Community	27 %	55 %	57 %	53 %	48 %
School	11	9	4	8	7
State and municipal	32	20	23	23	27
University	30	16	16	16	18

Read this table as follows: 27% of all the PTV stations in the country, as of 1971, were community stations. 11% were owned by school systems. The community stations were responsible for 53% of all PTV operating expenditures; the school stations, for 8%.

Source: Corporation for Public Broadcasting.

Of the 212 total, 23 stations were licensed to local school systems, these stations representing about 9 percent of the national coverage. Their primary function is to provide instructional programs as needed by the schools, with "public television" being something of a bonus. A look at the program logs of these stations reveals that many of the school programs are locally produced, but that increasingly programs are being borrowed or rented from national or regional instructional libraries for use in whole or in part. For most of these stations, the evening fare generally consists of programs from PBS with a small amount of local production.

The 68 state and municipally-owned stations made up 32 percent of the 212 station November 1971 total, with many of these linked together in state networks. Alabama, Georgia, Kentucky, Nebraska, New Hampshire, Ohio, Oklahoma, and South Carolina are among the states with such state networks. Typically these networks have one or two production centres, the other stations serving chiefly to transmit programs from a central source. Because of the nature of their funding, stations of this kind essentially serve different needs and have different objectives than, for example, community-owned operations.

The chief responsibility of university stations is usually to the extension services of their institutions. They also attempt, insofar as resources permit, to provide for local public affairs programming in the evening in addition to carrying the national service. These stations represent about 16 percent of the total national coverage, and there is a rather remarkable correlation in the case of these university stations between their proportion of the national coverage and their

proportions of total PTV income, operating costs, and local programming costs, as Table 7 earlier demonstrated.

To translate the proportion of PTV operations represented by these different types of stations into hard dollar figures, a look at Tables 8 and 9 is instructive. Table 8 includes 1969-71 figures for both *licensees* and *stations* to show the substantially greater sums at the disposal of licensees of multiple stations.

In relative terms, the financial position of the community stations stands out in these tables. Community stations typically operate at a level of about \$ 1 million annually now, the other types of stations at about half that. Community stations put correspondingly larger sums into local production and, of the four types of PTV stations, they come closest to a goal of general interest. This is not only because they are responsible for much of the national program service, but also because they are required to serve large heterogeneous communities.

School stations are primarily responsive to the needs of their school systems, state stations to the needs of the state units that established them, and university stations to the needs of university extension and continuing education objectives. Community stations, although devoting a considerable portion of their daytime schedule to school programs and special group programs, still must try to produce evening programs of wider general interest.

Each of the types of stations has had its own financial problems related to its own major sources of support. But the various types of stations have had one problem in common: uncertainty. Total income and capital expenditures have varied considerably from year to year because of fluctuations in federal, state, local, and foundation grants, and because of major expansion projects. Increases in the mean operating expenditures leveled off during the 1968 through 1970 period for all types of stations, and it is difficult to tell whether the 1971 increases actually strengthened the stations or merely allowed them to begin recovery from the lean years.

CURRENT SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Where has the money for PTV come from? For nearly 15 years, the Ford Foundation was the chief supporter of the national program service, and, through the Fund for the Advancement of Education, of instructional uses of television. All told, the Foundation has put more than \$ 225 million into this activity. The Federal Government, through the Educational Broadcasting Facilities Act, has contributed substantially to capital funds for new stations and for modernizing the facilities of older stations. From this source, over \$ 67 million has gone into improving and extending the facilities of public television.



Table 8. Mean Income as	nd Expen	ditures B	y PTV Stat	tion Type	, 1966-71	
	(Finan	cial figu	res in \$	thousand	s)	
STATION TYPE	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
COMMUNITY						
<i>Stations reporting</i> Mean Income Mean Expenditures	<i>41</i> 677	<i>37</i> 866	41 829	52 777	<i>52</i> 907	<i>56</i> 1194
Operations Capital	426 185	601 293	682 151	683 181	791 144	1078 196
<i>Licensees reporting</i> Mean Income Mean Expenditures				918	46 1025	47 1423
Operations Capital				807 214	994 163	1284 234
SCH00L						
<i>Stations reporting</i> Mean Income Mean Expenditures	<i>19</i> 246	21 275	22 356	22 412	<i>24</i> 409	23 424
Operations Capital	206 168	242 44	311 45	320 90	319 85	374 106
<i>Licensees reporting</i> Mean Income Mean Expenditures				21 432	23 427	22 443
Operations Capital				335 94	333 89	391 111
STATE AND MUNICIPAL						
<i>Stations reporting</i> Mean Income Mean Expenditures	<i>24</i> 642	34 251	52 260	57 333	60 394	<i>67</i> 569
Operations Capital	270 322	204 152	187 74	302 129	302 136	384 124
<i>Licensees reporting</i> Mean Income Mean Expenditures	<u> </u>			16 1186	20 1182	20 19 0 6
Operations Capital				1076 460	906 408	1286 412
UNIVERSITY						
Stations reporting Mean Income Mean Expenditures	<i>29</i> 362	27 296	31 367	58 291	5 <i>9</i> 320	61 422
Operations Capital	223 160	240 170	280 94	270 47	283 47	304 120
<i>Licensees reporting</i> Mean Income Mean Expenditures				42 402	45 420	585
Operations Capital				373 65	371 62	421 166
						

Sources: 1969-71 figures from annual surveys of the Corporation for Public Broadcasting. Earlier figures from NAEB surveys.

مستمنش

risk could

Table 9. Operation Fiscal Y	ns and Producti ear 1971	on Expenses B	y PTV Station	туре
	(Financial f	igures in \$	thousands)	
TYPE OF LICENSEE	Program Operations exclusive of Production	Production of General Programs	Production of School Programs	Total
1971 Total	17,316	32,674	8,776	58,766
(132 licensees)	100 %	100 %	100 %	100 %
COMMUNITY	9,774	20,759	3,152	33,685
(46 licensees)	56.4 %	63.5 %	35.9 %	57.3 %
SCH00L	721	2,303	1,855	4,880
(22 licensees)	4.2 %	7.1 %	21.1 %	8.3 %
STATE AND MUNICIPAL	4,046	5,361	1,911	11,319
(20 licensees)	23.4 %	16.4 %	21.8 %	19.3 %
UNIVERSITY	2,775	4,250	1,858	8,882
(44 licensees)	16.0 %	13.0 %	21.2 %	15.1 %

Read this table as follows: During 1971, 132 PTV licensees spent a total of \$ 32,674,000 on production of general (non-school) programs. Of this sum, 63.5 % was spent by the 46 community licensees.

Source: Corporation for Public Broadcasting.

In recent years, the Corporation for Public Broadcasting has contributed substantially to the support of programming and public service activities of local stations. And the U.S. Office of Education, together with CPB, has furnished much of the support for making such programs as Sesame Street and The Electric Company. Table 10 indicates trends in this pattern of support.

Perhaps surprisingly, the largest source of income in this tabulation is state governments and their agencies (providing for state services and supporting state networks), and the second in magnitude is schools and local governments (largely paying for instructional programs). Over the six-year period represented in Table 10, these contributions taken together show a steady increase in dollars, but remain about the same in terms of proportion of total support. State universities, on the other hand, are a little higher in dollar support at the end of the

Table 10. Sources	of Funds for Public	for P	1 1	Television	on Stations,	1	1966-71 ((Financial	cial figures	ıres in	€>	thousands)
	1966	6	1967	7	1968	8	1969	6	1970	0	1971	
Source	Total	%	Total	%	Total	%	Total	%	Total	%	Total	9/0
Schools and Local Government	11,058	19.0	12,305	22.7	15,519	23.3	20,192	23.8	20,900	20.2	20,152	14.2
State Governments and Agencies	15,792	27.1	8,861	16.3	16,273	24.4	24,667	29.0	29,863	28.8	46,684	32.9
State Universities	6,560	11.2	5,615	10.3	7,443	11.2	5,154	6.1	9,283	9.0	8,844	6.2
Federal Government other than CPB. (EBFA support, etc.)	6,835	11.7	5,196	9.6	3,692	v.	5,744	6.8	4,982	4.8	9,885	7.0
Foundations	8,426	14.4	8,073	14.9	6,041	9.1	6,573	7.7	8,576	8.3	15,933	11.2
Public Broadcasting Agencies & Contracts	ı	1	2,688	4.9	4,897	7.3	6,871	8.1	11,706	11.3	17,778	12.5
Underwriting	1,095	1.9	788	1.5	1,056	1.6	2,538	3.0	2,514	2.4	3,295	2.3
Auction Income	1	t	677	1.2	1,340	2.0	2,177	2.6	3,453	3.3	3,883	2.7
Other contributions from Business and Industry	2,052	3.5	3,093	5.7	2,681	4.0	2,072	2.4	2,126	2.1	3,066	2.2
Subscribers or Individuals	3,217	5.5	3,866	7.1	5,358	8.0	5,747	6.8	6,762	6.5	8,448	6.0
All other sources	3,281	5.6	3,163	5.8	2,420	3.6	3,194	3.8	3,477	3.4	4,014	2.8
TOTAL	58,316	100	54,325	100	66,720	100	84,929	100	103,642	100	141,982	100

Source: 1969-71 figures are from the Corporation for Public Broadcasting; earlier figures from NAEB. Note: Columns may not always appear to total 100 % exactly because of rounding.

1

The second second

period, but slightly less in proportion to the total. In the federal area, contributions through the Educational Broadcasting Facilities Act have fluctuated: down in 1970, up considerably in 1971.

Another important factor is the growth in income resulting from production of programs for the national service. In the last five years, the number of contracts given to individual stations to produce programs and series for wider distribution has increased significantly. At first, this money went through NET; currently, in larger amounts, it comes through CPB. In 1971, production grants to individual stations represented a total of 17.8 million. By way of comparison, this sum is well over the *total* income of PTV in 1961; in 1971 it represented less than 12 percent of the total.

Of special interest and significance, moreover, is the increase in contributions from private sources. Income from subscribers or other individuals has increased 159 percent in the space of five short years. Income from station auctions was recorded first in 1967, but by 1971 auction proceeds had risen to nearly 3.9 million. Taken together, local private sources (subscribers, auction proceeds, and contributions from business and industry) passed 15 million in 1971.

Again, these trends need to be seen in terms of different types of stations if a clear picture of the financing problem is to be gained. That breakdown is shown in summary form in Table 11, and in detail in Table 12.

In several respects, Table 11 may prove surprising. For example, about two-thirds of the support of public television comes from tax sources. Much of this, as Table 12 shows, is from local school systems, local and state governments, and state universities, with a relatively small part coming from federal funds. School, state and municipal, and university stations derive more than 80 percent of their income from state and local tax funds. Only the community stations receive any considerable portion of their income from private sources. In 1971, that was roughly 55 percent. A further glance at the detailed listing of fund sources in Table 12 will show that it is chiefly these community stations that have developed television auctions into a major source of support and have built up substantial lists of PTV subscribers. It is chiefly to the community stations, also, that foundation grants and production contracts have gone, although university stations have received substantial sums from foundations since 1966.

In summary, the trends to the end of the 1966 through 1971 period are fairly clear: tax support fell each year (notably in community stations where less money was provided for the support of instructional television), foundation support fluctuated throughout the period, there was a slight but uncertain gain in private support, and public broadcasting agencies (notably CPB) each year accounted for an increased share of the total support.

Table 11. Sources of	Funds By PT	V Station 7	Гуре, 1966	5-71, Summar	у			
	% of all income for that column classification							
Sources	All PTV Stations	Community	Schoo1	State and Municipal	University			
Tax Sources *								
1966	69.0	39.1	97.8	98.8	91.6			
1968	64.4	38.1	93.6	95.9	85,9			
1970	62.8	29.4	93.5	95.7	83.3			
1971	60.3	23.5	91.3	97.5	86.6			
Foundations								
1966	14.4	29.5	0.1	0.3	1.9			
1968	9.1	16.7	0.1	1.6	0.4			
1970	8.3	15.0	0.2	1.9	4.4			
1971	11.2	23.3	0.4	0.2	0.9			
Private Sources								
1966	10.9	21.4	2.0	0.7	2.1			
1968	15.6	28.3	5.2	1.3	2.1			
1970	14.3	29.0	2.2	0.5	2.8			
1971	13.2	26.0	2.3	0.6	2.8			
Public Broadcasting								
Agencies & Contracts					[
1966	-	-	-	_	_			
1968	7.3	11.6	0.3	0.2	8.0			
1970	11.3	20.2	3.9	1.5	7.6			
1971	12.5	22.0	6.0	1.7	7.4			
Other Sources								
1966	5.6	10.1	0.1	0.1	4.3			
1968	3.6	5.4	1.0	0.9	3.6			
1970	3.4	6.2	0.3	0.3	2.0			
1971	2.8	5.2	-	_	2.3			
	<u> </u>				<u> </u>			

Note: * "Tax Sources" includes all state and local support, and federal support *exclusive of* that distributed by Public Broadcasting Agencies.

Sources: 1970 and 1971 figures from CPB annual surveys 1966 and 1968 figures from NAEB surveys.

The most striking differences in support are between stations of different types of ownership, rather than between sources. Community stations are attempting to operate, as much as possible, with private support; the others depend chiefly on support from tax sources. With economic conditions currently making money tighter from both these sources (at a time when both operations and capital money are badly needed), the acid test will be whether private or public support stands up better.

L	Table 12. Sources of Funds By PTV Station Type,	mds By	PTV Sta	tion Ty	1	1966-71,	Detail													!				
		(Finan Italic	cial fi ized fi	(Financial figures in Italicized figures are	n \$ thk re perce	\$ thousands; percentages	(Financial figures in \$ thousands) Italicized figures are percentages of total revenues	il reven		for that type of		station for	for that	t year.										
			Con	munity	Community Stations				Sch	School Sta	Stations		-	State		and Municipal	al Stations	ions		η	University	ty Stations	Suo	
_	Sources	1966	1961	1968	1969	1970	1971	1966	1967	1968	1969 19	1970	1971	1966 1967	Н	1968 19	1969 1970	1971	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
	Schools and	5,954	6,456	7,695		8,144	7,867	4,128	5,118	6,337	8,	8,476 7,	7,596	345	20	504	1,1	1,136 1,531	1 631	1 681	983	3	2,984	2,885
	Local Government	21.5	20.2	22.6		17.3	11.7	88.3	88.7	81.0	9	86.4 7	27.9	2.2 0	9.0	3.7	-	4.8 4.0	0.9	8.5	8.7	_	15.4	11.2
	State Governments	2,059	2,323	2,996		4,229	5,537	203	180	553		194	634 12,	12,118 5,7	5,719 10,	920	18,731	31 31,468	8 1,412	2 638	1,775		4,433	8,914
	and Agencies	7.4	7.3	8.8		9.0	8.3	4.4	3.1	7.1		2.0	6.5 7	78.6 67	67.0 8	80.9	28	79.2 82.5	5 13.5	5 8.0	15.7	_	22.9	34.7
	State	601	369	396	_	148	275	,	м	-	_	108	143	35 1,600		821		407 207	7 5,924	3,644	6,225		8,156	8,289
	Universities	2.2	1.2	1.2		0.3	0.4	•	0.1	ì	_	1.1	1.5	0.2 18	18.7	6.1	_	1.7 0.6	6 56.5	5 45.7	55.3		42.2	32.2
	Federal Covernment	2,216	3,130	1,853		1,334	2,104	240	228	428	_	395	526 2,	2,740 8	988	708	2.3	2.369 3,967	7 1,639	952	703		533	2,189
	other than CPB	8.0	9.8	5.5		2.8	3.1	5.1	4.0	5.5		4.0	5.4	17.8 10	10.4	5.2	10	10.0	4 15.6	5 11.9	6.2	- 65	2.8	8.5
	Foundations	8,181	7,841	5,674		7,175	15,556	4	·	7		16	35	41 1	130	218	4	453 4	42 200	101	42	-	855	247
		29.5	24.5	16.7		15.0	23.3	0.1	_	0.1		0.2	5.0	0.3	1.5	1.6		1.9 0.2	2 1.9	1.3	0.4	-	4.4	0.0
•	Public Broadcasting	-	2,157	3,943		9,497	14,676	,	57	56		382	581			30		363 646		- 474	899		1,463	1,897
2€	Agencies & Contracts	_	6.7	11.6		20.2	22.0	١	1.0	0.3		3.9	0.9	-	-	0.2	-	1.5 1.7	- 2	5.9	8.0		2.6	7.4
3	Indepentition	1,018	651	937		2,315	2,829	2	54	47		22	53	53	76	46	_	33 108	8 23	3 7			248	306
	911111111111111111111111111111111111111	3.7	2.0	2.8		4.9	4.2	ı	6.0	9.0		0.2	0.5	0.3 0	6.0	0.3	_	0.1 0.3	3 0.2	0.1	0.5		1.3	1.2
	Auction	-	645	1,233		3,167	3,577	1	32	107		86	71	1	-	•		63 7	74	-	<u>.</u>		126	191
	Income	_	2.0	3.6		6.7	5.3	1	9.0	1.4		1.0	0.2		-	•	-	0.3 0.2		1			0.7	9.0
	Other contributions from	1,773	2,850	2,416		2,055	2,952	84	77	111		1	3	35	24	28		7 1	13 160	142	125		59	76
	Business and Industry	6.4	8.9	7.1		4.4	4.4	1.8	1.3	1.4		_	-	0.2 0	0.3	0.2	_	-	- 1.5	5 I.8	1.1		0.3	0.3
	Subscribers and	3,1.38	3,743	5,029		6,104	8,113	8	21	137		94	105	30	25	103		33 4	47 41	8			102	179
	Individuals	113	11.7	14.8		13.0	12.1	0.2	9.0	1.8		1.0	1.1	0.2 0	0.0	8.0	0	0.1 0.1	1 0.4	0.7	0.8		0.5	0.7
-	All other	2,803	1,874	1,821		2,901	3,378	4	•	72	-	56	S	11	-	126		62 3	30 456	1,290	400		379	592
	Sources	10.1	5.8	5.4		6.2	5.2	0.1	•	1.0		0.3	1	0.1	-	6.9	-	0.3	- 4.3	16.2	3.6		2.0	2.3
	TOTAL	27,749	32,039	33,993	27,749 32,039 33,993 40,397 47,069	47,069	66,872	4,673	5,770	7,825	9,073 9,	9,812 9,9	9,953 15,	,408 8,5	537 13,534	534 18,954	154 23,657	57 38,135	5 10,486	7,979		11,266 16,864	19,338	25,735
		'					•										!		l					

Sources: 1969-71 figures are from the Corporation for Public Broadcasting's annual surveys. Earlier figures are from NAEB surveys.



CURRENT PROGRAMMING EXPENDITURES

Any analysis of PTV financing would be strictly academic if it were not related to the program services offered by the stations. Consequently, we turn next to an examination of the various programming services provided by PTV stations, with particular emphasis on the costs to the stations of providing these services.

Table 13 shows the sources of the programs broadcast by the 193 PTV stations reporting in 1971. Just under one-fourth of the broadcast time was devoted to local programs, almost one-half came from national services, and the remainder originated in regional centres and other sources.

Table 13. Public Television Programming	Sources, 19	71	
	Proportion of hours broadcast from each source		
Program source	Total Programming	Programming for Schools	
Produced locally	23.0 %	35.9 %	16.0 %
Delivered by national interconnection	27.5 %	6.9 %	38.8 %
Delivered by regional interconnection	5.1 %	3.2 %	6.1 %
Delivered by other interconnection	3.9 %	5.5 %	3.0 %
Film and tape distributed from: National Educational Television Regional networks ETS/Program Service National Instructional Television Great Plains National Instructional Television Library Other PTV stations Commercial syndicates	6.9 % 5.2 % 3.4 % 3.8 % 3.1 %	1.8 % 6.5 % 1.1 % 10.6 % 9.0 % 5.6 % 0.8 %	9.7 % 4.5 % 4.7 % 0.1 % 0.3 % 2.0 % 4.4 %
All other sources	11.4 %	13.1 %	10.4 %
TOTAL	100 %	100 %	100 %
Total hours broadcast (193 stations)	639,611	226,165	413,446
Proportion for School & General use	100 %	35.4 %	64.6 %

Source: Corporation for Public Broadcasting, 1971 Survey.

Based on 193 PTV stations on the air during the entire 1971 fiscal year.

It is especially interesting, in Table 13, to compare programming for schools with "general" PTV programming in terms of the proportions of broadcast hours contributed by the various sources. For example, of the school programs (which on the average represented about one-third of the time of PTV stations), about 30 percent came from national sources: from PBS, NET, and the program libraries. Another 15 percent came from regional networks, regional interconnection, and other stations, with about 36 percent made locally. Many local ITV programs, however, are repeated in later years.

On the other hand, only about 16 percent of general PTV programs represented local production. More than half came from the PBS interconnection and the distribution services. About 13 percent of the general programming resulted from regional and station exchange.

The natural -- and important -- question follows: Why is the proportion of local school programming so much higher than the proportion of local general programming? For one thing, because school systems feel strongly about their own special needs, the unique qualities of their own curricula, and the requirements of their own students and teachers. Instructional programs made by local teachers are therefore more likely to be acceptable to a local curriculum committee, other things being equal, than are programs from outside produced by persons not under local control.

A second reason is the historically greater cost of general PTV programming. Although instructional television holds great potential for making very significant contributions to education in this country, to date relatively modest levels of production have been considered acceptable for ITV. Non-school programs, however, are compared directly with the production quality of the national commercial networks. Many commercial network primetime programs cost in the neighborhood of \$ 200,000 per hour. In contrast, local non-school PTV production usually costs less than \$ 5,000 an hour, with the bulk of national PTV production ranging between \$ 25,000 and \$ 75,000 an hour.

These figures illustrate why a PTV station, whose total annual production budget would not be enough to produce two hours of commercial network prime time programming, relies so heavily on its ability to share a core of high-quality programs with other PTV stations. In essence, this is the function which PBS and other distribution services perform. PBS operates the interconnection service which supplies to stations programs which have been commissioned or acquired from those PTV stations which are equipped and staffed for national production -such as New York's WNET (which produced The Great American Dream Machine, for example), Boston's WGBH (Julia Child, the Boston Pops concerts) and San Francisco's KQED (World Press) -- and from nonprofit production operations such as the Childrens Television Workshop (Sesame Street, The Electric Company) and the National Public Affairs Center for Television. PBS also distributes to the stations acquired features such as Kenneth Clark's program Civilisation and the dramatization of Galsworthy's Forsyte Saga, both from BBC. Thus a typical



public station can count on filling 20 or more hours of its air time per week, including repeats, with quality programs for which it has to pay none of the production costs directly.

When we consider the effect upon programming services of changes in station finances, therefore, we must consider both local and shared programming. Table 14 shows the trends in local programming over the years 1962-1971. These figures are from One Week of Educational Television, and some of the base figures are not precisely the same as those in Table 3, which are from a source using a somewhat different method of classification. However, the trends should be reliable, and the significant fact is that although broadcast time rose during the last decade, the hours and proportion of local programming fell steadily from 1962 through 1970.

Table 14. Distribution of Pub Per Week By General				Broadcas 1962-71	t Time	
	1962	1964	1966	1968	1970	1971
Number of stations reporting	62	88	115	153	190	193
Average total hours per station per week	42.9	42.3	49.5	56.1	65.3	63.7
Average hours General Programming per station per week	22.5	22.6	28.2	30.7	41.1	41.2
Locally produced hours General Programming per station per week	6.5	4.6	4.3	4.1	4.5	*
Proportion of General Programming locally produced	29.0%	20.3%	15.2%	13.4%	11.0%	
Average hours School Programming per station per week	19.9	19.6	21.2	25.4	24.2	22.5
Locally produced hours School Programming per station per week	13.0	11.0	9.0	9.0	6.6	*
Proportion of School Programming locally produced	77.9%	56.2%	42.4%	35.4%	27.2%	

1962-70 figures calculated from One Week of Educational Television,

1968, 1970.

Note:

Sources:

Figures not yet available for 1971.

To anyone concerned with policy in the field of broadcasting, such a trend is not only significant but also disturbing. One of the important functions of public television is to be a local voice, to cover local events and local problems, and to serve local groups not served by the generality of commercial television, and it appears that the ability to perform that function has been significantly lessened in recent years.

Why has local programming decreased relative to other programming? For one thing, because public television has been seeking a higher standard of quality. In the early years of the medium, any instructional television in the classroom was considered better than none, and any public television on the picture tube at home was better than not having public television at all. But the novelty of the medium wore off. Something rather special in quality, comparable to the speciality of the subject matter, came to be demanded. Higher quality in programming and production naturally costs more money. NET and later PBS were better able to meet this rising challenge than were the stations individually, especially given overall PTV financial resources which hardly even kept up with inflation.

The financial crunch continued through 1971. Alone among the public television stations, as we have seen, only the community licensees have been able to generate any considerable amount of private support, and even they have not received appreciable support from business and industry. But there is a ceiling on the amount of such support that seems to be available in a culture that believes it does not have to pay, at least directly, for television. Both businesses and individuals have been feeling the economic pinch. As a result, some community stations report that their membership renewal rates are down and that other sources of private gifts also are off. Moreover, the other major sources of support -- school systems, state and local governments, and universities -- have also been hard hit. An increasing number of school systems have been unable to pass bond issues to raise their tax rates. Facing rising salaries and spiraling operational costs, many of them have been in desperate financial straits. As a consequence, some have been forced, for no wish of their own, to discontinue their use of local ITV. Similarly, federal, state, and city governments have struggled with rising costs of social welfare and governmental services. Universities, unable in many cases even to raise their own faculty and staff salaries, have found it virtually impossible to increase allocations to their television stations.

In summary, the average public television station -- whether depending upon private community support or state or local tax dollars -- has had to contend with rising costs, rising appetites for quality programming, rising demands to serve special groups and to help in meeting local problems, rising needs to modernize facilities (color, more adequate studio and remote coverage facilities, improved signals and VHF channels where possible) -- all with no corresponding rise in support.



Further complicating the problem has been the high proportion of relatively fixed costs in this type of enterprise. The costs of simply keeping the station on the air, which in the case of some of the smaller stations account for almost half of all expenditures, are not at all elastic. As a consequence, virtually the only cuts that can be made are in staff and in funds available for the direct costs of local programming. Regardless of how a station makes these cuts in expenditures, the result is a cut in local programming, and most particularly in the special things -- remote coverage of an event or a meeting, a new program, a few hours on the air that might be used for special interest programming, a larger budget for program talent and studio sets, etc.

As a result, stations have come to depend more and more upon the programs provided by PBS interconnection, by the regional and state networks, and by other distribution services. But these national and regional sources also have felt the economic pinch. The Corporation for Public Broadcasting, which is now the largest single source of program support, had roughly \$ 10 million for programs and \$ 5 million for station support in 1971. (The remainder of its \$ 27.8 million budget went chiefly for live interconnection, support of public radio, program promotion, and administration.) Even if this entire \$ 15 million were divided among 200 stations for local programming, it would provide only approximately 15 hours of local programming per station per year at \$ 5,000 an hour -- the present cost of a starkly simple panel discussion program produced by station KQED in San Francisco. Or, at the most, it would provide one hour a week of very low-cost programming.

Given the limited current PTV financial resources, the alternative is clear. CPB, through the PBS facilities, is providing approximately 14 hours a week of original programming and another 6 to 8 hours of repeats, much (but not all) of it of high quality. Against this, the same funds spread out over 200 or so stations would produce only a few minutes per week of programming of comparable quality.

3. Assumptions and Cost Projections

THE COSTS OF A NATIONWIDE PTV SERVICE

Any responsible approach to national policy with respect to public television requires a hard look at the potential long-range financial commitments involved. Furthermore, the social benefits from such a service, to the extent that it is dependent on federal funding, have to be weighed against those which would come from other possible uses of the same federal resources.

Inevitably, projections of this kind involve a great many assumptions, few of which are universally accepted by all parties concerned. The *quality* as well as the quantity of program service to be provided, the extent of interconnection, the kind of national structure that will be most responsive to viewer needs, and the impact of new technologies (such as CATV, home video playback devices, and satellite transmission) -- all these influences must somehow be considered in making a final decision.

Some of the technological developments mentioned above have such great potential for changing the structure of broadcasting that it is impossible to carry cost projections very far into the future with any real certainty. It is difficult enough simply to project costs based on the present system, but even more difficult to estimate the costs of a system whose profile in five or ten years is likely to be very different from what we know now.

In spite of these obstacles and limitations, however, it is necessary to develop a cost estimate for a national public television service, if only for a short-run period of, say, five years. A number of estimates have been made by individuals, and there have been three rather comprehensive attempts to arrive at precise figures -- by Arthur D. Little and Associates for the Carnegie Commission, by economists engaged by the Ford Foundation, and by a government task force on financing public television.

In general, these studies have used an approach based on the number of PTV stations required to serve the majority of American households (usually 90 to 95 percent), the costs of interconnection of these stations, and the amount required to provide a national program service for this "network." Because of this approach, they have been criticized for being "station" oriented, and for not taking into account the potential of other perhaps more cost/effective alternatives such as CATV and video cassettes.



ll For Increase

Society.

television financing since the Carnegie report preceding the legislation of 1967, their report preceding the legislation of 1967, their report Many stations are "operating with obsolete recommendations, they observe that "the mosays "a balanced service, responsive to diverse equipment, some of it in danger of breaking realistic road to more adequate funding" appear Britain provides the BBC per person (\$3.29), they note.

may be the most serious financial crisis in its the Aspen Program on Communications and proceeds earmarked for public television might 19-year history, Nelson and Schramm state: Society, writes: "The federal government, having be desirable, "but may be politically infeasible to the system, and the nation, are reaping the launched public broadcasting on its present the present time," they observe. "Any system of harvest of years of financial neglect." The course, cannot now abdicate its responsibility for government funding which is devised much harvest of years of financial neglect." The national program service is "struggling to stay alive under increasingly severe attacks from several quarters" and local programming has been entering the era of 'television of abundance. The of providing curtailed in the face of "seriously crippling my nad-channel cable, together with the satellite, independence in "financial constraints.

National Association of Education Broadcasters meeting in Las Vegas, Nevada, Monday.

for recommends \$287 million for local programming yet unexplored. To default on this challenge Corporation for Public Broadcasting show th

The state of the s

Public television requires more than twice its (an increase of \$125 million) and \$115 million could mean closing off an opportunity that me present level of support "to achieve even its for national programming (an increase of about not return, once the wired nation has become minimum potential of service to the American \$100 million). Regional programming, reality." minimum potential of service to the American \$100 million). Regional programming, reality.

people," Profs. Lyle M. Nelson and Wilbur interconnection, innovation, and nonbroadcast Following a detailed review of potenti Schramm declare in a newly published report for activities also would be strengthened. In revenue sources, Nelson and Schramm concluding the Aspen Program on Communications and addition, it makes a rough estimate of \$237 to that "direct appropriation by Congress seems to the Aspen Program on Communications and addition, it makes a rough estimate of \$237 to that "direct appropriation by Congress seems to the Aspen Program on Communications and addition, it makes a rough estimate of \$237 to that "direct appropriation by Congress seems to the Aspen Program on Communications and addition, it makes a rough estimate of \$237 to that "direct appropriation by Congress seems to the Co ciety. \$347 million is needed in capital outlays for offer the only real possibility for meeting the first independent evaluation of public public television, mainly to improve existing support needs of public television over the next stations.

audience needs" would cost \$432 million to down completely," the authors note. "Many are to be appropriations authorized within the Publ operate annually — just over \$2 per person. The without color origination or transmission Broadcasting Act and the Education present cost of \$165 million (80 cents per capability and some are still using equipment Broadcasting Facilities Act. These now provided to the provided the provided the provided to th person) represents one fourth the support that purchased when stations first went on the air in \$15 million for programming and \$11 million for the 1950's.'

y note.

In a foreward to the study, former A dedicated tax, such as one which might be warning that public television now faces what Presidential Assistant Douglass Cater, director of imposed on manufacturers of TV sets, with

myriad-channel cable, together with the satellite, independence in the program service. Such a the video casette, and other new technologies, objective argues for a great deal of local station Contents of the report were disclosed at the will bring about an explosion of the ways by participation and control." which we communicate.

The study, in projecting a minimum annual stake in this communications revolution — for proportion of public TV programming developed national public television, education, health services, and social purposes as locally from 1962 through 1970. Data from the

five years." While making no single set facilities, respectively.

A dedicated tax, such as one which might b helping this sytem achieve its full potential... attempt to balance the objectives 'During this decade," Cater adds, "we will be accountability for government funds with thos freedom, flexibility,

ich we communicate.

Nelson and Schramm report a "significan "Public broadcasting has a major claim to but disturbing" trend in both the hours an

and the second

Public 7

illion could mean closing off an opportunity that may bout not return, once the wired nation has become a ning, reality."

lcast

Following a detailed review of potential In revenue sources, Nelson and Schramm conclude 7 to that "direct appropriation by Congress seems to for offer the only real possibility for meeting the sting support needs of public television over the next five years." While making no single set of olete recommendations, they observe that "the most king realistic road to more adequate funding" appears are to be appropriations authorized within the Public Act and the Educational sion Broadcasting nent Broadcasting Facilities Act. These now provide ir in \$15 million for programming and \$11 million for facilities, respectively.

A dedicated tax, such as one which might be or of imposed on manufacturers of TV sets, with and proceeds earmarked for public television might ving be desirable, "but may be politically infeasible at sent the present time," they observe. "Any system of for government funding which is devised must ... attempt to balance the objectives of be accountability for government funds with those The of providing freedom, flexibility, and lite, independence in the program service. Such an gies, objective argues for a great deal of local station by participation and control."

Nelson and Schramm report a "significant, to but disturbing" trend in both the hours and for proportion of public TV programming developed proparation for Public Broadcasting show that time.

the average public television station produces roughly four and a half hours of local programs per week. But the authors say that checks with representative stations suggest this figure may have declined further in the past two years because of local fiscal belt-tightening. Moreover, "there is evidence visible on TV sets across the country that much of this local programming consists of rockbottom budget production."

Conversations with a variety of station managers indicate that any trend toward centralization of programming has stemmed from "financial necessity, rather than design," they add. "With local programming severely limited simple panel discussion.... by budgets, and with other 'outside' materials too expensive to purchase, a station manager who does not want to use a Public Broadcasting Service supplied program has but one alternative a shorter broadcast day."

Their financial estimates would enable 160 stations to significantly upgrade the quality of local production (based on four hours per week, 39 weeks of the year, at a cost of \$5,000 per hour). Emphasis should be given to improving existing programming before starting new ones at the local level, they indicate. To stimulate service has some appeal." regional production and networking, they would finance 10 regional operations for two hours a of the report on "The Financing of Public week, 39 weeks a year, at a production cost of Television," priced at \$2 each, may be obtained \$25,000 an hour — still well below the \$200,000 from the Aspen Program on Communications locally from 1962 through 1970. Data from the cost of many commercial TV shows in prime and Society. 770 Welch Rd., Palo Alto, Ca.

On a cost-effectiveness basis, they add, the argument for increased investment in a national program service is "equally persuasive." In brief, they explain, "A dollar spent on a national service will raise quality a great deal higher for more audiences than the same dollar divided among stations for local programming." Even if all the 1971 budget of the Corporation for Public Broadcasting were used for local programs, they note, it would support only 15 hours of programming per year among each of the 200 stations originating programs. This would cover only \$5,000 an hour - the cost of "a starkly

"One of the best ways to insure station independence from a national program service which all stations need, but few would ever achieve entirely — is to finance enough programs in the national service so that local stations will have a choice among the offerings," Nelson and Schramm add.

"If additional funding, by formula, is provided for stations, then the idea of a modest subscription fee paid by stations for the national

Graduate students Trevor Brown and Bruce provide nearly \$20 million annually. This would McKay assisted the authors in the study. Copies 94304.

The highest of these estimates, one based on the assumptions listed above, places the total annual expenditure in the neighborhood of \$750 million, including all affiliated costs, with approximately another \$250 million needed for regionally produced programming and interconnection-a \$ 1 billion a year total. This estimate, it should be pointed out, assumes complete interconnection of all stations, and a general level of program expenditure and administration roughly equivalent to current commercial network operations.

In his analysis for the Ford Foundation, Joseph Pechman estimated an annual requirement of approximately \$200 million (at 1967 prices) for a minimum national service. Most other estimates have ranged between these two figures, although some -- based on different assumptions about the number of stations and the amount and kind of local production -- have been lower.

The most widely quoted and certainly the most detailed estimate is that of the Carnegie Commission in its 1967 report, Public Television: A Program for Action. Assuming 380 stations (of which about 170 would be "repeater" types with no production facilities), the Commission estimated annual total costs of \$ 270 million at 1967 prices (amounting to about \$ 338 million in 1972 dollars). This estimate covers annual operating costs, including capital depreciation and replacement, and is in addition to a basic capital outlay requirement of \$ 621 million. A breakdown of the Commission's estimates is shown in Table 15.

It needs to be emphasized that these are total system costs. Based on 1971 total station revenue of \$ 142 million, this would leave in the neighborhood of \$ 200 million required in the way of new annual funding.

But there are several assumptions in the Carnegie Commission report which can be questioned, chief among them the total number of stations required. That report, like most approaches to the costing question, seems dominated by the broadcast station concept. A non-commercial broadcast station is assumed to be the most effective and most economical method of providing public television to most communities, an understandable assumption given the stage of development at the time the estimates were made.

Now, however, this approach does not account for the emerging importance of CATV and video cassettes or the long-range potential of direct reception from satellites. Nor does it give adequate consideration to the local programming resources and needs of individual communities. Given these factors, along with the financial and other problems which have arisen from permitting uncontrolled expansion of stations (especially in areas where new stations duplicate the services of existing ones), it seems reasonable that the number of additional stations needed may well be quite small -- perhaps 30 to 50 more than the 224 presently on the air.

Table 15. Carne	gie Commissi	on Cost Esti	mates, 1967		
for a	fully devel	loped education	onal televisi	on system	
		(Financial figures in \$ millions)			
		Basic Capital	Annual Costs		
	Number	Required	Operating	Capital	Total
Stations					
Key	20	124	60	12	72
Flag	40	132	47	11	58
Standard	75	127	37	12	49
Basic	75	95	12	10	22
Repeater	170	93	6	8	_14
Total	380	571	162	53	215
National Programs 520 hours/year, excluding key station productions		8	23	-	23
Interconnection					
Interstate		-	9	_	9
Intrastate		42	9	4	9 8
		<u>42</u> 42		4 4	
Total		42	13	4	17
Corporation for Pub Broadcasting					
(Non-broadcast activities)		-	15	-	15
TOTAL COSTS (1967)		621	213	57	270
Approximate 1972 Equivalents		776	266	71	338

THE "SERVICE" APPROACH TO COST ESTIMATING

Our approach to cost estimating begins with consideration of the service itself, by asking what kind of non-commercial television service would best meet the public interest, in what quantity and quality, and in what kind of a mix between national, regional, and local programming. From there we move to the question of how best to organize and deliver such a service.

Implicit in this approach are two basic assumptions upon which our projections are based: a non-commercial television service of some kind is desirable, even necessary, as an alternative to the programming which is available on a strictly commercial television system, and the nation can well afford such a system. (In fact, we would go further



and say that it can ill afford not to have such a system, given the increasing complexities of our society and the need for a well-informed population.)

Let us take up the latter point first: that the nation can well afford such a system. Perhaps the comparative figures set forth in Table 16 on the next page make the point more dramatically than words can. They show in detail the levels of support which a number of other countries feel they should, and do, provide for public television. For an annual public television budget of, say, \$400 million in the United States, the costs would be less than \$2 per capita. It would seem difficult indeed to argue that such an expenditure would create a national hardship, faced with the fact that the Canadian government provides close to \$6 per capita annually for public television, and the British government over \$3 per capita. The 1971-72 CPB federal appropriation amounted to 17¢ per person, a figure that suffers in comparison not only with the support levels in other countries but also -- and perhaps even more dramatically -- with the close to \$14 per person which U.S. commercial television costs annually.

It is significant that only about one in five of all the countries in the world which have television in some form -- and virtually none of the major ones -- relies solely on a private ownership system. Government ownership predominates, of course, but significantly about two-thirds of the nations depend upon some form of mixed private and public ownership.

To accept the proposition that some form of non-commercial television service is needed is not in any way to depreciate the contribution of commercial television. Far from it. Were there only publicly-supported television in the United States, we would argue just as forcefully, and from the same position, that a strong commercial network or networks were needed to provide flexibility and freedom of choice in a field so significant in its impact.

Commercial television's primary objective is, of course, to reach the greatest number of people at any given time. This is not an objective to be condemned or minimized in its importance, given the functions and purposes of such a system. It serves a vital purpose in our kind of society which requires freedom of choice in the market place of ideas as well as in the market place of commodities.

On the other hand, the primary objective of non-commercial television, in its truest form, is to cater to all of the audience (within realistic limits, of course) some of the time -- not at any given hour, but cumulatively over days, weeks, and months, and differentially to each viewer in accordance with his or her particular needs. This obviously requires special concern for local audiences and local programming needs.

Nowhere has this basic view of the role of public television been more clearly stated than by Charles Siepmann, formerly Professor of Communication at New York University and for many years a key program officer of the BBC, who in 1966 wrote:

The prime responsibility of educational television ... is to take us for what we have in us to become, to feed and foster emergent and often as yet unrealized interests. The consequences of a restricted



Table 16. Television Service Costs By Country				
Note	Service	Total (\$)	Per person expenditure	
1.	CBC (Canada) Television, 1970/71 All CBC TV expenditures, including commercial programming	166,583,800	\$ 7.70	
2.	Parliamentary Grant - Television	123,733,400	5.81	
3.	BBC (UK) Television, 1970/71 (Totally non-commercial)	183,241,000	3.29	
4.	NHK (Japan) Television, 1971/72 Estimated TV share of budget	300,000,000	2.90	
5. 6.	US Commercial Television Station and Network revenues, 1970 Network revenues only, 1971	2,808,200,000 1,487,500,000	13.71	
7.	US Public Television Total System Revenues, FY 1971	165,632,100	.80	
7. 8.	PTV Station Revenues, FY 1971 CPB Federal Appropriation, FY 1972	141,982,200 35,000,000	.69 .17	

Notes: 1. CBC operates other broadcasting services in addition to television. Expenditures shown are for direct television costs and a calculated portion of CBC common costs. The CBC TV networks operate as commercial services for parts of each broadcast day.

2. "Grant" amount shown is net cost to taxpayers, based on calculated television share of total CBC parliamentary grant of \$ 166,000,000 less commercial television revenues of \$ 42,850,000.

Source: CBC/Société Radio-Canada Annual Report, 1970-1971.

- 3. Source: BBC Handbook, 1972, p. 210.
- 4. NHK operates both radio and television services. Budget amount shown is calculated television portion of total NHK 1971/72 budget of \$ 372,190,000.

Source: NHK Handbook, 1971, p.33.

- 5. Source: FCC Release, May 12, 1972.
- 6. Source: FCC Annual Report, Fiscal Year 1971.
- 7. Source: Corporation for Public Broadcasting.
- 8. Appropriation is for the support of public broadcasting, including both radio and television.

diet for mind and spirit ... is pellagra. It is the business of educational television to cast its bread upon the waters, hoping that it will return after many days. It must be satisfied to play for time, not to be dictated to by time.

Another basic assumption which underlies our approach to the kind of national PTV service which is needed (and thus to how much it will cost) is that a large measure of local independence and control are desirable policy objectives. To meet the diverse needs of communities and population groups across the nation, instead of attempting to appeal to the broadest possible mass audience, public television needs to program, as we have noted, with special attention to minority preferences of all kinds.

Again the case has been well made by Charles Siepmann, and also by John Fischer, former editor of *Harper's* magazine. Siepmann had this to say on the subject:

Great as are its advantages, I believe that centralization is the one thing to avoid in setting up an educational network Institutions are no better and no worse than the men composing them, and the risk of monopoly is the human frailty and limitations of the man, or men, at the controls. In a world of imperfect men -- and in broadcasting, particularly, which merchandises ideas and values -- the risk of concentrated power is too great to take. No man combines the degree of trained intelligence, of leadership, initiative, and organizing ability that network broadcasting requires.

And Fischer, speaking of the former NET, adds:

In the long run, however, I think it would be a pity if NET were to remain the sole dominant factor in ETV production. That would mean that the ideas of a relatively few people in NET headquarters would determine what sort of programming was done by all ETV stations However good, broadminded, and impartial these people may be, such a concentration of power would tend to create uniformity rather than diversity.

However, it should be quickly added -- and this point bears underscoring -- that these comments do not argue against a national service. They argue for diversity and flexibility, which in the long run means achieving a balance between strong and effective national programming and equally strong and effective regional and local programming. Achieving such a balance is the essence of the policy decision now facing the nation, and we believe that a satisfactory balance point can only be reached by a new scale of funding at all levels.

If there has been a trend towards "centralization," it seems clear to us from conversations with a variety of station managers that the primary reason has been one of financial necessity rather than design. At present stations can, and occasionally do, decide not to carry a particular program provided by the national service. In reality, however, most carry nearly all that is offered through PBS because little else is available from other



Y

sources at costs which the stations can afford. With local programming severely limited by budgets, and with other "outside" materials too expensive to purchase, a station manager who does not want to use a PBS-supplied program has but one realistic alternative: a shorter broadcast day.

The Corporation for Public Broadcasting has estimated that about one-fourth of all programming carried by PTV stations is locally originated. However, it appears that much of this is actually instructional television intended for classroom use and carried during the daytime. An examination of station logs reveals that the overwhelming volume of prime time (6:30 to 10:30 pm) programming is provided by the national service.

That a major share of prime-time PTV programming will continue to come through a national service, and should continue to be so provided, is a proposition with which few will disagree. Only through such a service can PTV provide programs of exceptional quality which, for lack of funds or locally available resources, individual stations themselves cannot produce.

Furthermore, there are *national* resources which need to be shared with all Americans. There is a national heritage which belongs to all the people, and there are national and international problems, policies, and decisions which demand the widest possible understanding and participation. A national service planned by, for, and with the stations it serves is the cornerstone upon which rests the entire public television structure. Without it, local public television (but not necessarily ITV) would probably collapse in all but a few isolated cases.

The argument for investment in a national program service from a cost/effectiveness point of view is equally persuasive. As we have already noted, if the entire 1971 CPB budget for program production were divided evenly among 200 stations for local production, it would provide for approximately 15 hours per station per year at a modest \$5,000 per hour, the cost of a starkly simple panel discussion. In short, a dollar spent on a national service will raise quality a great deal higher for more audiences than the same dollar divided among stations for local programming.

Regional programming, that significant resource once hailed as "the most promising development since the inauguration of ETV" (in the US Office of Education report, ETV: The Next Ten Years), has largely been overlooked or brushed aside in most projections of PTV needs and costs. But the growth of this form of programming, and its increasing importance in many station schedules, requires that it be considered as a key element in any plans for a truly balanced nationwide public television service.

There are at present five "regional" networks and nine state networks. They range from the extensive Eastern Educational Television Network (EEN) with its 32 member stations to state networks of four or five stations as in New Hampshire and Georgia. In the case of these regional networks, there are sometimes several primary production stations although in many of the state networks the system is fed by programs originated at one central source.



There are a number of arguments which support the regional programming approach, including the following:

(a) Independent regional operations complement national services by assuring diversity rather than conformity in program control, initiative, and creative production.

(b) Coverage of issues which are regional in nature is equally as important as coverage of national and strictly local issues, and such coverage is most effectively achieved through regional

cooperation.

(c) The educational and cultural resources of the nation, unlike commercial television talent and resources, are not confined to one or two cities but are for the most part clustered around key regional centers.

(d) The financial strength of PTV is enhanced because regional network production shared by several stations is less expensive than individual local programming.

(e) Regional production introduces a highly desirable -- independent -- yardstick by which to measure national programming efforts.

There seems to us to be a strong case for both national and regional programming. But clearly, national and regional programming alone are not enough if PTV is to fulfill a vital public service role in a nation as diverse and with as many varied interests and needs as there are to be found in the 50 states. Strong local program services are essential, but it has been development of this local programming that has suffered most from the financial constraints under which public television has operated since its inception in 1953.

According to statistics compiled by CPB, the average PTV station now produces roughly 4.5 hours of local programs per week, exclusive of instructional programming. This doesn't mean, of course, that each station produces 4.5 hours. Some, especially the larger community stations, produce more whereas others originate no programming at all.

Two additional points need to be made with respect to local programming. In the first place, there is reason to believe -- after checking with representative stations -- that the number of hours has dropped in the past couple of years as a result of station financial belt tightening. Secondly, there is evidence visible on television sets across the country that much of this local programming consists of rockbottom budget production, often simple "talk" shows displaying little, if any, attempt to use television as a visual medium.

As a consequence, the service concept from which we approach the projection of costs contains as its major element the strengthening and improving of local program production. Although we have already argued that production by a large number of local stations is expensive on a nationwide scale, we believe that a significant increase in the quantity and quality, especially quality, of local programming is essential to provide the level of balanced program service which should be the national objective.



As we said at the outset, our approach to the cost projections which follow concerns itself with the *service* and not the vehicle by which it is delivered. How the program reaches the viewer is important only to the extent that the most effective and cost/efficient possible means be used.

It is clear that in the next decade cable television will grow in importance and will have a profound impact on the provision of television service of all kinds. Further, as we have already indicated, home video playback devices, and perhaps even direct reception from satellites in the more distant future, are likely to influence the shape and size of whatever public television system exists in five or ten years.

Given these considerations, the concept of a nationwide network of broadcast stations linked by an elaborate interconnection system may be neither realistic nor economical. Already the compulsion to "fill in the gaps" (in the map of PTV coverage of the United States) has resulted in new stations coming on the air in areas where they largely duplicate the coverage of existing PTV stations and where there are few or no community resources, financial or program, to support the operation.

What is required for a rational judgment -- and on this point there is virtually unanimous agreement ranging from Members of Congress to station managers -- is a national "master plan" which will establish guidelines for determining and implementing the most economical and effective method of providing a public television service to the greatest number of citizens in any given locality.

It is probable that such a study would demonstrate that the establishment of more new stations, or even the broadcast mode of operation, is not the most effective way of reaching many of the communities now without PTV service. In fact, it might well show that some stations now struggling to remain alive are not economically or socially justifiable in terms of their costs and services. Certainly until there is such a plan, it would seem sensible to place strict limits on the number of new stations which will be supported by federal funds and attempt to control the apparently aimless expansion which has characterized much of the growth to date.

OPERATING COST ESTIMATE

Based on the considerations and assumptions set forth in the preceeding pages, we conclude that a *minimum* national program service consisting of at least 24 hours of new programming per week, exclusive of "repeats" and daytime children's programming, is desirable. In addition, the cost projections which follow provide for an average of approximately 6 hours of quality local and regional programming, to be encouraged by direct national support to stations and regional production units.

Such a "package" would, we believe, provide a balance in program offerings, would encourage diversification in production and control, and would give individual station managers the variety and flexibility they require to



respond more effectively to the needs of their own communities and audiences. Additional provisions which would not affect the overall cost estimates might well enhance balance, diversity, and responsiveness to local realities. Stations might, for instance, be limited to the use of a given proportion, say 75 percent, of the national program service. Subscription fees might be established for the national service, scaled to produce, as an example, sufficient funds to support the public affairs portion of the service. Such a provision would tend to remove, at least by one step, control of the vital public affairs area from the appropriations process, and it would also help to insure responsiveness to local needs and wishes.

 $(\mathcal{A}_{i},\mathcal{A}_{i},\mathcal{A}_{i}) = (\mathcal{A}_{i},\mathcal{A}_$

Given these priorities, and the background provided in Chapter 2 on current sources of funding, what would be the total national bill for a minimum nationwide public television service of the kind contemplated? The figures in Table 17 on the next page attempt to arrive at a rough estimate of the probable costs. It is significant that these operating costs would average about \$ 2.07 per person, certainly low when compared to the per capita expenditures of the other nations listed in Table 16.

A few comments may help to give perspective to the figures in Table 17. Perhaps the first point of significance is clear: An entirely new level of funding is required if public television is to achieve even its minimum potential of service to the American people. Further, this funding is needed at all levels - local, regional and national - if a balanced service responsive to diverse audience needs is to be provided.

Moreover, the estimates contained in Table 17 represent the kind of funding which would be required for a minimum service consisting of approximately the following mixture of national, regional, and local original prime-time production (excluding "repeats"):

National Service - 24 hours per week
Regional Service - 2 hours per week
Local Service - 4 to 8 hours per week

It is assumed that stations would have the option of selecting up to about 18 hours per week from the national service without the payment of additional fees. They would then fill the remainder of their prime-time hours (6:30 to 10:30 pm) with regional and local production (6 hours per week) and with another 4 hours of "repeats" in much the same pattern as at present. In addition, the national service would be expected to provide approximately 12 hours of children's programs per week for daytime viewing by younger children.

The total operating cost figure of \$ 432 million in Table 17 is an all-inclusive one representing all facets of the service. Perhaps more important is the basic incremental cost representing the additional annual funding required -- \$ 266 million -- to bring all program services up to a minimum standard.

We have made two separate and inconclusive attempts to determine the stations' current actual costs for local programming. A random



Table 17. Total Annual Minimum Operating Cost, National PTV Serv	rice
Service	Cost
1. National Program Service	
 a) Daytime Children's Programming, Regular Season 12 hours/week, 39 weeks/year @ \$ 54,000/hour average 	\$ 25,272,000
b) Prime-time Programming, Regular Season 24 hours/week, 39 weeks/year, subdivided as follows: - Programming for Older Children and Teens 6 hours/week @ \$ 80,000/hour average	18,720,000
- Music, Drama, Performance, & Criticism 8 hours/week @ \$ 70,000/hour average	21,840,000
- Public Affairs Programming 6 hours/week @ \$ 74,000/hour average	17,316,000
- Special Programming and Special Events Coverage 4 hours/week @ \$ 100,000/hour average	15,600,000
c) Summer Programming Assume primarily re-runs, but with some new public affairs production and special events coverage. 13 weeks @ 50 % regular season rate	16,458,000
[Total, National Program Service]	[115,206,000]
2. Regional Program Services To stimulate regional production. Assume 10 regional production operations	
2 hours/week, 39 weeks/year @ \$ 25,000/hour	19,500,000
3. Local Program Services	
a) To maintain current services Total PTV Station Expenditures, Fiscal Year 1971*	142,838,000
 b) To upgrade local programming Assume 160 stations engaged in production 4 hours/week, 39 weeks/year @ 5,000/hour 	124,800,000
[Total, Local Program Services]	[267,638,000]
4. Innovation Support	
To develop new sources of programs, and to experiment in new production techniques, etc.	8,000,000
5. Interconnection	
Assume expansion of the current system to include new stations	12,000,000
6. Non-broadcast Activities	
Administration, promotion, research, etc.	9,500,000
Estimated Total Annual Minimum Operating Cost	\$ 431,844,000
Less: Total Unduplicated PTV System Revenues Fiscal Year 1971	165,632,000
NET MINIMUM INCREMENT IN ANNUAL OPERATING COST	\$ 266,212,000
Note: * Total PTV Station Expenditures provide a realistic approximate current local programming costs. Stations reported Directions	

Note: * Total PTV Station Expenditures provide a realistic approximation of current local programming costs. Stations reported Direct Operating Costs of \$ 113,242,000 in FY 1971. The total figure used here includes some funds for capital purchases and national production to offset the fact that in few cases do stations include depreciation in Operations.

sample of 25 stations produced an average cost of well under \$ 2,500 per hour for their local programs. Detailed analysis of the records of some of the larger stations indicated that their average costs are over \$ 5,000 per hour. The differences result mainly from the fact that many stations do not include overhead (indirect costs) in their per hour operating figures. In order to control for these differences in accounting in our local program services estimate, we have included total station expenditures as an approximation of the actual costs of the approximately 4.5 hours per week currently being produced, with the capital and national production portions of those total expenditures making some allowance for unreported indirect costs.

It should also be noted that although we have calculated the cost of upgrading local program services in terms of hours of production, this is not to suggest that stations would automatically produce an additional 4 hours per week of local programming. The first priority must be to upgrade the quality of local programming. In most cases the \$5,000 per hour provided in our estimate should be used to improve their current productions, although some stations may be able to increase their local programming hours. This would depend on the amount and quality of a station's current local production, its production resources, and the level of facilities utilization.

In considering these cost estimates for local production, two additional bits of information are pertinent. First, the BBC charges the "Open University" \$ 20,000 per hour for broadcast services, exclusive of salaries for teaching and other instructional personnel. Second, an extensive cost study of "Educational Media Systems and their Components" by the General Learning Corporation in 1968 placed the cost of "good quality" materials at approximately \$ 2,000 per 20 minutes (\$ 6,000 per hour).

The total of 160 producing stations is based on the number of "licensees" (139) operating the 224 stations already on the air plus the assumption that there would be about 20 more producing stations (largely in the bigger cities still without PTV) among the additional 30 to 50 stations to come on the air.

Funds for regional production would need to flow through some national organization such as CPB or PBS. Such support could, for example, be made available to any group of stations, say five or more, which wanted to cooperate on a series of programs whether or not the stations happened to belong to a formal network organization.

Finally, it needs to be pointed out that the projected costs do not include public radio which is important and which will require separate funding. Nor do they provide for any expansion or improvement in instructional television, the assumption being that funds for that purpose will come from other sources directly related to the uses to which such programs are put.

It has been suggested that it would be helpful if the items in the minimum "budget" were put in priority order, or if a long - range plan for financing were developed showing moves by stages to the total level of funding suggested. Given the services needed at all levels, however, it



34

is virtually impossible to say that one is more important than another. Further, we do not believe it is within the scope of this paper to suggest how funding should be accomplished; we have merely tried to assess the needs for the service outlined and to develop a realistic cost estimate.

But budget decisions require a tough look at alternatives. For that reason, therefore, and for whatever value they may have, our own order of priorities would probably be as follows:

PHASE I

- 1. Local station support approximately 1/3 the minimum amount suggested in Table 17.
- Regional production 1/2 of the total shown.
 (This represents a cost/efficient resource which has not been developed nearly to its potential.)
- 3. National programming 1/4 to 1/3 the increment suggested, mostly for children's programming.
- 4. Interconnection and other support at about the same fractions.

PHASE II

- 1. Local station support an additional 1/3 (to 2/3 suggested total).
- 2. Regional production full funding suggested.
- 3. National programming an additional 1/3 (to 2/3).
- 4. Innovation support full funding.
- 5. Interconnection full funding.

PHASE III

Addition of remaining amounts necessary to provide the minimum basic service at all levels.

CAPITAL COST ESTIMATE

A good many projections of the basic capital requirements of a national PTV system have been made over the years. The range of these estimates -- from a high of \$621 million by the Carnegie Commission to low of \$155 million by NAEB -- should emphasize the difficulty encountered in trying to arrive at a reliable figure. This range is dramatically shown in the table below.

Table	Table 18. Nationwide PTV System Capital Cost Estimates, 1966-1972				
Year	Source	Stations	Amount		
1966	NAEB/ETS Report	364	\$ 392 million over 5 years		
1967	Carnegie Commission	380	\$ 621 million (See Table 15)		
1969	HEW-USOE Staff Report	380	\$ 177 million over 5 years		
1970	CPB Memo (October)	339	\$ 270 million over 5 years		
1970	NAEB Memo (November)	300	\$ 155 million over 10 years		
1972	CPB Staff Report	340	\$ 540 million over 5 years		

At the end of the 1971 fiscal year, CPB reported that total cumulative expenditures by PTV stations for capital were approximately \$ 211 million. Federal support, largely through the Educational Broadcasting Facilities Act administered by HEW/USOE, has accounted for over \$ 67 million of this total.

An area of immediate concern -- in our opinion more critical at this time than provisions for new stations -- is that a considerable number of stations currently on the air are operating with obsolete equipment, some of it in imminent danger of breaking down completely. Many are without color origination or transmission capability, and some still are using equipment purchased when the stations first went on the air in the 1950's. Financial constraints have not allowed stations to make replacements, much less to take advantage of technological advances.

Accordingly, we believe that the emphasis should now shift from bringing new stations on the air to upgrading and modernizing those already broadcasting. Certainly the haphazard growth which has characterized the field to date should be brought into some reasonable order.

We have suggested a leveling off of the number of stations at the 255 to 275 level, with these stations supplemented by perhaps 50 to 75 additional "repeater" transmitters. Given the potential impact of new technologies, we are convinced that such a limitation makes sense in terms of the allocation of national resources. Moreover, if a national "master plan" is adopted, we assume that it would reserve most of the new activations (exclusive of repeaters) for the approximately 18 communities of more than half a million now without PTV service.

Realistically, the only way to arrive at a firm estimate of capital requirements is to conduct a survey of all stations and of all communities planning stations. This has now been done by CPB. We have not, however, been able to examine the requests in sufficient detail to be confident of their validity. Predictably, each station sent in its entire "Santa Claus" list, so a hard look needs to be taken at each single request to determine basic needs. In the absence of such a detailed analysis, we are hesitant to accept any estimates or to develop even rough figures of our own. Faced with the need for some estimate -- however rough -- and based on the information at hand, we suggest the following "ball park" figures.

Table 19. Capital Cost Estimate	
Expenditure grouping	Range of expenditure
New Station Activations 30 to 50 new stations 0 \$ 1,500,000 average	\$ 45 to 75 million
"Repeater" Stations 50 to 75 installations 0 \$ 250,000 average	\$ 12.5 to 16.8 million
Existing Stations Expansions and improvements (Based on USOE applications plus additional needs reported by stations)	\$ 180 to 255 million
TOTAL	\$ 237.5 to 346.8 million

Part of the last

200

Again, it needs to be emphasized that these estimates do not include public radio. HEW estimates the needs for capital expenditures for public radio at approximately \$ 13 million for both new stations and expansions and improvements of existing ones.

Two problems remain: that of providing for annual depreciation costs, and that of finding a method for handling initial capital needs while preventing (or discouraging) duplication, overlapping of services, and the creation of unnecessarily elaborate facilities just because the federal government is providing the funding. We think the latter has been a problem in the past. There are a good many PTV stations on the air today which have little or no economic or service justification and there are some whose facilities are used so seldom as hardly to justify the expenditures.

But first to the annual depreciation question: past experience clearly demonstrates the necessity for building into any PTV capital grant program some requirement that stations set up an adequate capital depreciation plan. Otherwise, the system is almost certain to find itself in 10 to 20 years in exactly the same predicament as at present: with an obsolete and inefficient physical plant, and with no means (except the federal government) of bringing it up to date.

While a maximum of local control and flexibility and a minimum of federal requirements are desirable objectives, common sense makes necessary some provisions which will assure an adequate capital depreciation system. Such provisions should not be difficult to write into federal grant programs. Although modest, the station program grants which we have proposed will help to meet these annual depreciation charges.

Now as to a method for meeting initial capital needs, both for establishing new stations and for modernizing those now on the air. The most direct method, of course, would be an extension and expansion of the current Educational Broadcasting Facilities program. There are advantages to this approach in that it is directly responsive to station needs, requires local matching (although we think these requirements could be tightened up), and can be handled with a minimum of rules and regulations.

Another suggestion which has been made is the "development loan bank" approach. Such a plan would have the federal government create in effect a development loan bank similar to those from which loans to foreign governments and agencies are made. Both grants and loans would then be made directly to PTV stations and would-be stations, with the loans made at considerably less than normal interest rates.

The aspect of this approach which appeals to us is the built-in control it would provide over wholesale and uneconomical expansion prompted by the availability of federal grants. If a station or community knew it would have to repay some part of the total cost, even at low interest rates, it would be less inclined to overexpand or to begin a new service duplicating an existing one.



In this chapter we have tried to take a careful and realistic look at the probable costs of an effective nationwide public television service. We have emphasized the service to be provided and not the number and type of stations, the kind of interconnection, etc. The latter have relevance only insofar as they stem from the service which is contemplated.

Without attempting to assess any of the political arguments which now swirl about the field of public television or to join the national debate which seems to be dividing the field into hostile camps, we have concluded that public television's main thrust should be to serve special and minority needs (intellectual, ethnic, age, regional, etc.) rather than to attempt to appeal to the mass audience which is the province of commercial television. Further, as a consequence of this objective, we believe that there needs to be a maximum of local flexibility and control, with a balanced program "package" consisting of high quality national, regional, and local programming.

Based upon these considerations, a close look at the situation today clearly shows that the local and regional components are sadly lagging in terms of effectiveness and in terms of the overall goal of program balance. For the most part, the local stations simply have not had the financial resources to produce even enough minimum quality programming to be able to exercise choice in the selection of national programming to be broadcast.

To provide at least a start toward such a basic service -- local, regional, and national -- a minimum budget has been suggested. Although this budget represents a new "order of magnitude" for the nation's public television service, it remains far under what other major nations are spending and represents a modest per capita expenditure for this country.

4. Funding

The problem of devising a method of financing for a nationwide public television service can be dealt with in two parts: the method for raising revenues, and the method for distributing funds among the components of the system.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Funding for public television ideally should be adequate to the need, long-term to permit planning ahead, and free from any control by specific donors over the content of programs. With these requirements in mind, let us examine the most commonly suggested sources of funding.

1. The Private Sector

These contributions come, for the most part, from:

- (a) Subscribers and other individuals,
- (b) Community fund-raising projects, including auctions,
- (c) Business and industry, and
- (d) Foundations.

(a) Subscribers and other individuals

In 1971 these sources contributed \$ 8.4 million to PTV station budgets, an increase of 24.9 percent over 1970. In a few cases their contributions represented a substantial part of a station's income. For example, the PTV station in San Francisco has more than 54,000 subscribing members at rates ranging from \$ 10 (for students) up; the station in Boston has over 50,000 subscribers. However, for the



most part it is the large community stations that benefit from individual membership or subscription as a funding device; other types of stations have in the past made relatively little use of it, although more are beginning to do so.

Obviously this is a preferred source of income. It makes a station directly responsible for support to the people it serves. Although subject to change resulting from economic fluctuations and other factors, such funding is not subject to one single annual appropriation nor likely to be cut off suddenly by a political decision.

The question is whether this source of funding can be increased substantially over the 6.0 percent of station budgets it represented in 1971. Certainly the rate of increase has been slow, and has not kept pace with the expansion needs of public television.

Studies of subscribers to a number of PTV stations have indicated that a person's status, rather than his use or appreciation of a station, tends to determine whether he will contribute. Subscribers typically have been highly-educated members of the upper middle class. They represent only a tiny fraction of the station audience and they tend to watch PTV on the average only slightly more than non-subscribers. Americans simply are not accustomed to paying for broadcast television. Those who do subscribe apparently do so out of a sense of community responsibility -- because this is something they feel they should support -- and therefore the link between station performance and individual contributions has not held for a majority of the audience.

Since subscription revenue has increased slowly in recent years at the large community stations, it has appeared that individual contributions might be approaching the saturation point, or at least the point where the cost of adding new subscribers would almost equal the revenue gained. However, the stations themselves point out that even at average costs of \$ 9 each for attracting new subscribers, subscription fund raising is profitable. The limiting factor appears to be the amount of money which the station is able to allocate for fund-raising projects, given the constant demands for programming funds. Recently a new effort has begun, involving four stations in an attempt to refine strategies for attracting new subscribers to PTV, which may eventually help many stations increase their levels of individual support.

Nevertheless, there seems to be little chance even for metropolitan community stations to get a large part of their costs back from this source. It may be possible for stations owned by universities, municipalities, state governments, and school systems (Denver now receives about \$ 100,000 from individuals) to seek subscribers and thus enlarge their own sources of support. However, in some cases this would require changes in stations' legislative mandates, and in most cases the number of potential subscribers is not especially large.



(b) Community fund-raising projects, including auctions

Auctions, in which viewers bid by telephone for donated articles and services (everything from a basket full of groceries to an African safari) which are displayed and sold over the air with all proceeds going to the station, have contributed significantly to revenues, especially in the last five years. A few community stations each raise in the neighborhood of half a million dollars in this manner. Auctions and other community campaigns provided 2.6 percent of station revenue in 1969, 3.3 percent (\$ 3.4 million) in 1970, and 2.7 percent (\$ 3.9 million) in 1971. This contribution can doubtless be increased further as more and more stations adopt aggressive fund-raising tactics. However, there is little likelihood that the increase will bulk large in the total PTV requirements, particularly since the FCC has given some signs that it may be about to put constraints on these activities. And there is the additional consideration that auctions seriously tax station staff energies and volunteer support.

(c) Donations from business and industry

These donations provided about 4.5 percent of all station support in 1971, amounting to \$ 6.4 million. Approximately half of this support took the form of "underwriting" grants toward the production, acquisition, and/or transmission costs of particular programs. Underwriting accounted for \$ 2.5 million (2.4 percent of total revenues) in 1970, and \$ 3.3 million (2.3 percent) in 1971.

The extent to which business and industry can be expected to increase their donations is not clear. Although the dollar amounts contributed have risen, the percent of total revenues remains about the same and it is difficult to predict how much, if any, this support can be increased beyond the current 4.5 percent of total income.

It should also be noted that donors are much more likely to underwrite the costs of prestige programs of a non-local origin (Civilisation, Sesame Street, Masterpiece Theatre, Firing Line, etc.) than to support a station's effort in producing a local series or acquiring relatively untried programs from elsewhere. Therefore, while grants of this type represent an important contribution to operating expenses, they usually do not contribute to a station's greatest need: funds for local programming of high quality.

(d) Grants from Foundations

These grants have been essential to the growth of public television. As we have indicated, the Ford Foundation has carried a large share of national programming expenses for 15 years and, before the Educational Broadcasting Facilities Act, a large share of the contributions to station facilities and equipment. In 1971, total foundation grants were \$ 15.9 million, a little over 11 percent of total revenues.



There is little likelihood of increasing this support dramatically. Foundations are facing new rules and a new tax on their income, and have long preferred to operate on the strategy of providing "seed" money for developments which will, if successful, be progressively financed from other sources of income. Although foundation support increased from 8.2 to 11.2 percent of total station revenues from 1970 to 1971, the implication is that stations should count on it for help with innovations rather than for general support.

Up to this point we have been talking about sources that presently represent a little over 24 percent of total station income. It is
a highly desirable type of income, to be sure. If total station costs,
with the exception perhaps of ITV services, could be paid for in this
way, it would be a healthy situation for public television. Much of
this kind of income now goes to community stations, although there
is some hope that local contributions may come to bulk larger in the
budgets of other types of stations too. But very few observers or
station managers are confident that any forseeable increase in this
source of income will be proportionate to the increasing needs of the
stations. The most hopeful area is that of individual subscriptions
and contributions, but if these are to increase in any substantial
way there will have to be a change of attitude on the part of most
Americans towards the idea of "paying" for television.

2. State and Local Tax Support

Under this heading we are talking about just over half of the total support for public television stations at the present time. In 1971 for example, about 14.2 percent of total PTV station revenues came from school systems, 32.9 percent from state boards of education and other state agencies, and 6.2 percent from state universities. The total was \$ 75.7 million, representing the bulk of support for all except the community stations.

This kind of support illustrates why school, state university, and state network stations are somewhat less stable financially than are community stations, and also why they tend to grow less swiftly than community stations in the field of general programming. School systems and municipal agencies are more likely to be willing to pay for measurable educational services than for general cultural services. Consequently, they are more likely to support instructional television more heavily than general programming for public television audiences. If a school system owns its own station, it is more likely to keep that station broadcasting to its classrooms than is a school system which pays a fee to a community station for a certain number of hours of instructional television. School boards, city councils, state legislatures, and boards of trustees of state universities are likely to be sensitive, and in some cases responsive, to the political

complaints sometimes generated against public service programming. Non-community stations, therefore, have usually been less daring than community stations in public affairs programming, and community stations have been the first to feel in their local ITV grants the displeasure of elected boards with some of their non-ITV programming.

Although the dollar amount increased 26 percent from 1970 to 1971, the proportion of the total PTV outlay fell from 58.0 to 53.3 percent. The 1966 share was 57.2 percent.

Can this source of support be substantially expanded? The general outlook is that it will continue to expand slowly and gradually, but that it will be inadequate, without considerable help, either to meet the need for coverage expansion or the rehabilitation of existing facilities and equipment. It will not contribute greatly to the cost of improving local PTV programming. Nor will it contribute in any large degree to improving the situation of community stations, especially as school stations are established to take over the delivery of ITV programming from community stations presently providing that service.

3. Revenue-producing Operations

A number of schemes have been advanced for using the facilities of public television stations to generate commercial revenue as a substitute for or supplement to other income, notably tax money. Attractive as these possibilities seem, each suggestion of this kind has certain serious defects or limitations.

(a) Commercial advertising on PTV

It is argued that the step from an "acknowledgement" of a grant from industry or business in support of a program to an actual "commercial" for the donor is a very small one, and that taking such a step represents a way in which PTV stations might generate their own income and eventually be able to pay all or most of their own way. Although the change in what appears on the screen might be minimal, it is an incredibly long step in terms of the nature and purpose of public television.

For one thing, such a change in policy would require the FCC at once to review the terms of PTV licenses and the reservation of PTV channels. It would face strong opposition from commercial stations and networks. More importantly, it would make a fundamental difference to PTV itself. It would require PTV to compete in the ratings market for large audiences in order to attract advertisers. This is contrary to the concept of PTV which we have tried to outline: a service focusing mostly on specialized audiences and specialized local needs and interests. It would be conceivable, of course, to think of a system of commercial stations owned by non-profit organizations, devoting a number of daytime hours to ITV and being able to afford to carry a few programs like "Civilisation" and "Sesame Street" that ordinarily do not appear on commercial stations. However, even if



there were no legal objections and no opposition from Congress, it seems too big a price for PTV to pay, because the differences between public and commercial television would very probably fade out and there would soon be no alternative service.

(b) Revenue from satellite operations

This was the proposal of the Ford Foundation in 1966: that a domestic satellite or satellites be launched to distribute both commercial and public television throughout the United States, and that a certain proportion of the profits from the satellite operations be used in support of PTV.

A domestic satellite system will doubtless be available within a few years, and the idea of distributing television programs by means of it to local stations is attractive to the networks. However, the creation of a separate corporation to manage such a space link and to pay some of its profits into PTV is even less likely now than in 1966.

(c) "Production house" operations

It is argued that independent production companies are establishing studios to provide facilities or to make programs and advertisements for commercial broadcasters while at the same time many PTV production facilities stand idle. Why not take in a little business and plow the profits back into PTV programming?

Apart from the tax implications for PTV stations, which are non-profit corporations or parts of public institutions, the area is not very attractive to PTV broadcasters. They are not staffed to do this kind of work, and "production house" operations, if not kept separate, might interfere with PTV production schedules. The profit margins, for organizations not specifically set up to do this kind of work, would probably not be large anyway.

(d) Non-broadcast operations

One revenue-producing scheme which does appear to have some limited potential for offsetting PTV costs is the operation of non-broadcast divisions or affiliated non-profit corporations. Although the "Sesame Street" and "Electric Company" programming has been widely praised,



the initiative of the Children's Television Workshop in augmenting its income with revenue from the sale of educational products is often overlooked. CTW expects net income of \$ 1.9 million from its non-broadcast division by 1973, and although not all stations in the PTV system have CTW's potential market, this is an approach which deserves consideration. Currently one local effort, Philadelphia's Mynah project, is taking the approach of fund-raising through an affiliated non-broadcast corporation.

(e) "Pay TV"

Direct payment for television services may well be in the future of public television. It is probable that payment for some television services -- sports, new movies, drama -- may be linked closely to the development of Community Antenna Television (CATV) systems on cable. If so, it is wholly probable that adult education courses, home study work towards degrees, and perhaps some special cultural programs will be paid for by users in this way. Much of this programming probably will be produced by PTV stations. This might contribute substantially to PTV's income. And if, as many observers anticipate, the public television broadcaster 15 years from now will be concerned chiefly with programs rather than with broadcasting them, then this source of income may become quite significant indeed.

However, the development we are talking about seems to belong to the 1980's rather than to the present decade. It is difficult to anticipate the pace of technological change, and the prospects of Cable and Pay-TV are likely to be much more interesting to public television stations five or ten years hence than they are at present. But there seems to be no immediate likelihood of much addition to station income from this source in the next five years.

To sum up, then, the possibilities of partly commercial operations do not seem to hold out a greal deal of promise for significantly improving the financial health of public television in the immediate future.

4. Dedicated Tax Revenue

Almost everyone who has thought about the financing of public television has lingered for awhile over the idea of a trust fund, into which dedicated revenue could be paid, and which would be available to public television without annual appropriation or political control. Thus it would be long-term, it would be free from political strings, and the revenue could be adjusted to make the fund adequate to the need.

Many of the national non-commercial, or partly-commercial, television systems of the world (the BBC, for example) are financed in such a manner out of receiver license fees. This was the general



The section of the property of the section of the

intent of the 1966 Ford proposal, which would have assigned to public television a certain proportion of the revenue from domestic satellite operations, and this was what the Carnegie Commission had in mind when, in its 1967 report, it proposed a manufacturer's tax on television receiving sets.

There are two serious problems connected with such a trust fund. One is finding the source of money for the fund. The other is the principle of public finance that holds that the expenditure of public funds should be subject to legislative and administrative review at regular intervals.

Considering the first of these problems, it is well to try to specify the criteria which the source for such a trust fund should meet. The tax system, it appears, should have five characteristics:

- (a) There should be a clear link between those taxed and those who benefit. For example, a tax on gasoline purchases to be used for highway construction has that kind of link.
- (b) The tax should be practical and easy to administer. For example, it should be a percentage of proceeds or a fixed fee per unit, rather than something as complex as a personal income tax.
- (c) The tax should be capable of generating the required level of funding without serious inconvenience to the persons paying it.
- (d) The tax should not impose an excessive burden on any sector of the populace.
- (e) The tax proposed should be politically acceptable.

With these requirements in mind, let us review some of the most promising sources of tax revenue for a PTV trust fund.

(a) Receiver license fees for households able to receive public television

As we have said, this is a common device in many parts of the world. A study by Arthur D. Little, Inc. in 1970 estimated that an annual fee of approximately \$ 4.50 per TV household within PTV coverage areas would have generated enough revenue to finance a PTV system. If households with an annual income of less than \$ 4,000 were excluded from these license fees, the required amount could have been raised by charging approximately \$ 9 per year. However, the study pointed out a number of arguments against such a plan, and it is easy to add more.

For one thing, it probably would meet immediate opposition from the American public, which is not used to paying for television. Again, the fee would be charged without differentiation between those



who view PTV and those who do not. It would also be extremely evasion-prone. Experience in other countries indicates that to undertake collection of such a new tax would be impractical because of the high cost of enforcement relative to the return.

(b) Manufacturer's excise tax on television receivers

This tax was first suggested several years ago when the number of color television sets was still very small, and a great amount of receiver replacement was anticipated. This suggests one difficulty with such a tax -- that the income is likely to be unstable, high when new technology comes on the market, low at other times. However, it would be a simple tax to collect. Evasion would be difficult, and it would be collected from so relatively few organizations that it could be easily enforced. The serious difficulties are of other kinds.

In the first place, there is not a very satisfactory link between the manufacturer of the set or the purchaser (to whom the tax would probably be passed along) and the persons who would benefit from PTV. In many communities, 25 percent of all television viewers say they never watch PTV, and the amount of viewing of PTV is only a small part of all TV viewing. Furthermore, if the tax were passed on to the purchasers of receivers, it might be argued that the additional cost, though seemingly small, would be sufficient to keep a certain number of disadvantaged families from having television, and thus the possibility of enriching the lives of the poor and the disadvantaged by means of television would be lost. Finally, it is likely that both manufacturers and consumer groups would resist the tax.

Nevertheless, as the Carnegie Commission noted, this particular form of tax may be the most palatable one if it is decided to try to create a trust fund from dedicated revenues. (That Commission recommended an excise tax beginning at 2 and rising to 5 percent of set cost.)

(c) A tax on broadcasting or telecommunications

Among the taxes suggested which fall under this heading are:

- (i) license fees to be collected by the FCC from commercial users of frequencies in the broadcast spectrum,
- (ii) taxes on long distance communication licensees -- including long line telephone and telegraph services.
- (iii) a tax on all commercial broadcasting revenue, and
- (iv) a tax on the profits of commercial broadcasting.

It is evident that all these sources fail to provide a direct link from those taxed to those benefiting thereby; they are much less defensible in this respect than the highway tax on gasoline, for example.



If a case can be made for higher license fees to be paid by commercial users of the spectrum, the obvious use of the revenue from this tax would be to support the FCC itself, rather than non-commercial users. Users of telephone and telegraph services might justifiably complain at being taxed to pay for public television.

It should be pointed out that these tax schemes appear to have been proposed as methods for establishing a trust fund relatively free from political control rather than as means for taxing those who should support public television.

It is not the purpose of this paper to pass final judgments on the funding schemes which have been proposed, but despite the attractiveness of these sources of dedicated funds, most of the suggestions seem "politically" unrealistic at the present time. The most palatable is the tax on manufactured television sets, and this -- as we have seen -- has a number of drawbacks and also has to face the major objection to all dedicated taxes, the insulation from review and control provided by the trust fund structure.

5. Federal General Revenue Funds

The most realistic road to more nearly adequate funding at the moment appears to be the kind of appropriations authorized within the Public Broadcasting Act and the Educational Broadcasting Facilities Act, through which in 1971-72 \$ 35 million per annum was going to the Corporation for Public Broadcasting (and a part of that through CPB to local stations) and \$ 11 million was going to HEW for grants to stations for equipment and facilities.

To put this possibility in perspective, let us sum up the situation with respect to the other possible sources of funding we have discussed.

Contributions from individuals, business, and industry

- now going mainly to community stations,
- total likely to increase as stations decide to or are able to step up fund-raising activities, but
- unlikely to cover a much larger proportion of station costs than at present.

Foundations

 unlikely to play a much increased role in the financing of PTV.

Support for school systems and government below the federal level

 will contribute chiefly to school, municipality, state, and state university stations,

- will contribute chiefly to instructional and official services, rather than to general "public television" programming,
- support from school systems to community stations, for ITV, is subject to (among other factors) school budget fluctuations.

Revenue-producing operations

- legally and administratively awkward, and
- unlikely to contribute significantly to increasing PTV income.

Dedicated revenue for trust funds

- a manufacturer's tax on receivers is perhaps the most palatable of a politically unpopular group of possibilities,
- unlikely to be adopted in the near future despite the desirability, from many points of view, of a trust fund for operating public television.

Direct appropriation by Congress, therefore, seems to offer the only real possibility for meeting the support needs of public television over the next five years. An amount adequate to PTV's needs can be supplied, and the tax system which provides general revenue funds is not only already in existence but provides perhaps the most equitable possible system for distributing the costs of national public television service. Certainly the source/benefit linkage problems are much less severe, and would diminish as national PTV coverage increases. And the use of the existing taxation system would avoid the "unjust burden" charges that could be levelled against special taxes.

Compared to other possibilities, such Congressional support admittedly offers less hope of real long-term planning, and less freedom from political influence over specific program content. But if Congress so decides, it can provide adequate funding and, as we have seen, at a minimum national cost.

There is no necessity that this type of funding be on an uncertain one-year-at-a-time basis. Congress can, if so moved, provide for long-term authorizations and multiple-year appropriations which would permit planning over a longer term while still retaining provisions for annual reviews.

SUPPORT DISTRIBUTION

The problem of providing the necessary support can be separated from the problem of allocating it: the characteristics of an acceptable distribution system are not necessarily dependent on the identity of the source of the funds.



The design of the distribution system itself can be broken down into two problems: the choice or establishment of an administrative agency or agencies, and the establishment of guidelines or a formula to govern the actual distribution of the funds.

1. Distribution Agencies

At the present time, the chief sources of federal support for public television are CPB (for program and general operating support), and HEW/OE (for facilities and equipment grants). Having two separate agencies handle different parts of the federal funding has caused some problems of coordination, but the system, with limited funds, has worked reasonably well.

With any substantial increase in the level of funding, however, it would seem more efficient to have all funding (both operating and capital grants) flow through a single agency, although that would be a matter of secondary importance once the Congress had decided upon a given formula for the distribution.

2. Distribution Formula Proposals

The idea of a "formula" for determining the distribution of financial support to the various PTV stations and agencies has received considerable attention recently. Taken together, the suggestions for factors to be included indicate that any formula probably should operate as follows:

- (a) It should provide basic support for local stations and regional systems adequate for a significant expansion of local program production.
- (b) It should provide for *interconnection facilities* for the distribution of programs of nationwide interest.
- (c) It should provide for a national program service of sufficient quality and scope to permit individual stations to select programming which they consider suitable for their local audiences.
- (d) It should provide special support for innovative activities at both the local and national levels.

In distributing funds to stations:

- (e) It should be structured so as to encourage growth of the nationwide PTV system where expansion is really needed, and to discourage unnecessary duplication.
- (f) It should encourage the continuation and expansion of the raising of funds from non-governmental sources.



- (g) It should take into account some measure of the size of the audience served by the stations (in addition to providing basic support to all stations).
- (h) It should reward stations providing exceptionally high levels of local service.
- (i) It should take into account the relative disadvantage of UHF stations in audience building and fund-raising.

And finally:

(j) It should strike a widely accepted balance among the above priorities.

The design of a formula which meets all these proposed criteria, even given the necessary funding, appears to be a tall order. The basic factors which should be included are relatively obvious, although the proportional weighting of each is certain to be the subject of much discussion.

A formula of this kind, for example, might provide for a small general grant to each public television station, plus a larger sum proportional to the station's present level of expenditure, and/or to the audience within its coverage area.

It is an especially attractive idea that the formula might take into account the amount of local support from subscribers and donors -- as an index of appreciation of the kind and amount of service the station may be providing -- although there is the danger of thus inducing stations to pursue fund-raising as an end in itself. If such a formula proved unacceptable to the majority of stations, another approach might be to tie a part of the funding to the number of hours of local PTV programming produced by the station (although of course such an approach would not take into account program quality).

Thus, for example, a formula for distributing station support might be developed along these lines:

- one-quarter to all stations evenly across the board,
- one quarter on the basis of the unduplicated PTV audience within the coverage area of the station,
- one quarter on the basis of individual contributions, and
- one quarter on the basis of combined state, local, and private support of the station.

Such a formula, rather than a straight across-the-board allocation of funds, would have the advantage of encouraging the objectives of local independence and local programming.

Funds for national interconnection of the PTV stations, and for the production of programs for national distribution could be given, as at present, to CPB for administration. Any degree of local station



participation could be built into the programming services provided, through CPB and PBS. Indeed, one of the best ways to insure station independence from a national program service -- which all stations need but few would ever achieve entirely -- is to finance enough programs in the national service so that local stations will have a choice among the offerings, as we have already suggested.

If additional funding, by formula, is provided for stations, then the idea of a modest subscription fee paid by stations for the national service has some appeal. Presumably it could be scaled in accordance with the audience in the coverage area (much as some commercial payments for films and other such special programs) or the station budget -- there is a direct correlation between the two -- and would entitle the station to a specified proportion of the basic national service package.

A fee of this kind would have two major advantages: it would help to make the national program service more responsive to the wishes and needs of the stations themselves, and it would insulate, by at least one step, a part of the national program service (public affairs programming, for example) from federal political influence. Naturally it would also make possible quality programming which local stations themselves could not afford individually but could as a group.

It has also been suggested, as a further step towards local control of PTV, that virtually all funds be distributed to the stations. They would then purchase programming from national sources in much the same way that commercial stations acquire "syndication" programming. An extension of this approach would be the creation of a "program cooperative" in which the individual stations would pool their funds for national programming. At first glance, the potentially increased costs of such a "market place/consumer" system, especially taking into account the administration and "marketing" activities required, seem to be a disadvantage, but it may well be that the advantages in giving local stations financial control over the operation of such a cooperative far outweigh the drawbacks.

Some aspects of the cooperative plan still require careful study. Some "central influence" will be required to make the system work, but the type or amount of central influence which would be required is still not clear. A careful look needs to be taken at the costs of administering the cooperative and at the extent to which local control over national programming would actually be increased.

It would seem that the cooperative would work best if complemented by an independent national programming operation outside the cooperative which could provide balance by supplying those types of programming not being produced by the cooperative itself. Work on these proposals is continuing, and although there are many questions to be answered, the overall approach seems promising.



FEDERAL FUNDING CONSIDERATIONS

If there is to be growth of federal funding, two problems need to be examined very carefully.

One of these is the nature of the formula for distribution of funds to local stations. Although we have discussed above a number of factors which should be considered, any fair and effective solution to this problem requires a much more detailed study of the costs and needs of local stations than we have been able to make. This activity itself would generate a great deal of additional information useful to stations, the Congress, and the national programming services.

A second problem is the extent to which such support can be given in some manner which will permit long-term planning. If "permanent insulated" funding (such as a trust fund) is not politically feasible at this time, what other possibilities exist?

Is one prototype the current provision of public assistance funds by Congress to the states (in the case of public assistance) on the basis of a formula which provides them with sums proportional to their own expenditures for that purpose? The federal expenditure is thus determined by activity at a more local level, just as a formula for distribution of funds to local stations might be. In that case, Congress could be concerned with the formula and the level of support, and the public television stations could work for a period of years with appropriations "guaranteed" (to the extent that any such funds are guaranteed) by a predetermined formula.

Another prototype might be long-term contracts and grants. Some agencies are now permitted to make long-term arrangements for research and development, always subject to the availability of funds, but generally quite secure because of commitments at the outset.

These are problems which can be worked out if Congress, the Administration, and the representatives of public television wish to do so. In considering questions of distribution systems and the extent and method of funding, we must not lose sight of the main goal: to provide a significant informational, cultural, and educational service to the American people -- a service which includes not only a strong, dynamic, and effective national component, but vigorous and responsive regional and local services as well.



5. Conclusions

The purpose of this paper, as we stated at the outset, is to provide the background necessary for an understanding of the alternatives available in the development of a sound national policy basis for the financing of public television. We have tried to assess the various options realistically and in the light of the national policy implications inherent in each.

To do this, we have presented a brief historical survey -- admittedly all too brief -- of where PTV in this nation has been and where it is now. Running throughout this history has been the single, undeniable fact of PTV's persistent poverty -- of inadequate support both for local station operations and for the national program service. Expenditures, by whatever standards of comparison, are less than a minimum national commitment to the concept of public television should justify.

As a result, public television today faces what may be the most serious financial problems in its nearly 20 years of existence. Indeed, some would argue that whether this nation is to have an effective service of this kind or not hangs in the balance. It is clearly evident that public television is not making the contribution to the life of this nation which it can, and that this contribution is now being limited primarily by financial constraints. Only the American people, through their elected representatives in the Congress and in the Administration, can make the final decisions which will determine the fate of public television in the United States.

It is our hope that this paper will provide the basis for a greater understanding of some of the issues and problems involved and will make possible a more widespread discussion of the alternative courses of action, together with their public policy ramifications.

For this reason, we have tried not to advance any single "plan of action" designed to solve all problems. However, we do think that certain



conclusions logically and inevitably follow from the data which we have presented. In brief, these are as follows:

- 1. The nation can well afford a quality nationwide public television service. Although it is impossible to assign a dollar figure to the benefits from such a service, the levels of support for public television in other countries provide an indication of the value placed on such services outside the United States. Federal government support for public television amounts (on a per capita basis) to \$5.81 in Canada, to \$3.29 in the United Kingdom, and to \$2.90 in Japan. In contrast, total public television system support in the United States amounts to 80 ¢ per capita, only 17 ¢ of which was provided by the 1971-72 CPB appropriation. Our estimates indicate that an increase of \$1.27 per capita a for annual operations is required.
- 2. Support for operations and programming at the local, regional, and national levels must be provided in any plan of financing which is developed. The evidence of station needs is too overwhelming to ignore the important local aspects of the nationwide problem. On the other hand, funds spent on national program production -- programs which are then shared by all the stations -- go much further towards the provision of a high quality service than if the same amount were spread over all participating stations. And thus, striking a reasonable balance between local, regional, and national support becomes necessary.
- 3. The central objective should be the provision of a service, not a concern with how it is delivered. In other words, creating complete new broadcasting stations is not in itself the objective. Rather, that objective needs to be to provide a different television viewing experience for the American people -- different from the kind of fare available from other sources. Such an approach must of necessity take cognizance of the potential contribution of CATV, repeater transmitters, and regional services, and -- for the future -- of home video cassettes, satellite transmission, and related developments.
- 4. Regional programming services should not be overlooked, as they have tended to be to date, as an extremely cost/effective means of providing public television service of a localized nature while benefitting from shared cost advantages. Independent regional services contribute to diversity in the overall public television system, allow individual stations to share costs with others, and are uniquely suited to take advantage of regional talent and opportunities and to focus on essentially regional problems.

- The insulation of funding from program control is a necessary and desirable objective, but one which is most difficult to achieve. A dedicated tax with proceeds going into an earmarked trust fund would be desirable, but may be politically infeasible at the present time. Therefore, any system of government funding which is devised must attempt to balance the objectives of accountability for government funds with those of providing freedom, flexibility, and independence in the program service. Such an objective argues for a great deal of local station participation and control.
- 6. The diversity of station ownership -- essentially four different types of licensees -- and the differences in their objectives and needs of their communities are characteristics which should be preserved as important assets. Diversity in ownership and differences in local operations bring public television closer to the people it serves.
- 7. The development of public television in this country has reached the point, not only because of finances but also because of the potential impact of other methods of transmission, where "family planning" is necessary. The "service" objective should be remembered: new stations should be established only where clearly justified in terms of increasing effective nationwide public television service in the most cost-efficient way possible. This is especially important in view of the critical need for assistance to stations currently operating to improve and upgrade what are in most cases inadequate and in many cases obsolete facilities.

The implications for the future are enormous. The public interest requires a reasoned, dispassionate, and farsighted approach.

Appendix: Aspen Conference

Recommendations for

Public Broadcasting's Future

On July 28-30, 1972, the Aspen Program on Communications and Society brought together a group to study the first draft of the Schramm-Nelson Report and to consider its implications. While no effort was made to reach unanimity, a number of proposals were offered which constitute the beginning agenda of a Plan of Action for Public Broadcasting. The proposals include:

- 1. Reaffirm the commitment to the concept of public television.
 - Develop evidence of the achievements of PTV in its first five years under the CPB legislation and communicate this record to the public, the Congress, and the Administration.
 - Restate the purposes and the potential of PTV, using the Killian Commission report as a prime source.
 - Stress the evolutionary character of the system.
 - Underscore that PTV must not be drawn into partisan political debate.
- 2. Build up a national constituency which supports public television.
 - Involve local communities across the nation in events such as town meetings.
 - Each PTV licensee should move voluntarily and immediately to make an ascertainment of the needs and desires of the community it serves.
 - Form a "Committee of 100" of distinguished citizens.
 - Enlist the top people in various fields and organizations to help broaden the support for PTV.
- 3. Develop a strong and definitive statement of public television's urgent need for a significant increase in financial support on a long-term basis. Steps essential to construct the case for increased, long-range funding:



- Make a solid assessment of the current financial status of PTV.
- Develop a statistically sound description of current PTV income and expenditures, using recognized cost accounting and standard reporting procedures.
- Revise and extend the Schramm-Nelson report on the financing of public television, incorporating available cost accounting data, to provide an independent assessment.
- 4. Develop a long-range (perhaps five-year) plan of the financial needs of the system, including full documentation of the funds required and how they would be spent.
 - Key role to be played by the CPB Committee on Long-Range Financing.
 - Supplementary effort could be "systems analysis" to assess the current situation, to make cost projections on that basis and also on proposed modifications, and to run simulations.
- 5. Specify the long-term objectives and actual services to be provided by public television, as the basis for the long-range financial plan.
- 6. Review and evaluate structural modifications of the public broadcasting system, designed to provide checks and balances and insulation.

 Include for consideration:
 - Market plan which sets up a "programming cooperative" financially dependent on decision-making by stations on programs to be produced. Plan to include:

Majority of funds distributed to licensees on the basis of a formula which sets base grant for individual stations plus supplement related to audience and/or budget.

Incentive in formula to assure maintenance of contributions from other than federal sources.

- Allocate to CPB a certain percentage of programming funds as "venture capital" to assure innovative and balanced national programming.
- 7. Amend Public Broadcasting Act to provide longer terms for CPB Board members, in order to increase political insulation and enhance the Board's status.
 - Establish consultation processes to aid in the selection of CPB Board members, including slate preparation by the Board itself.
- 8. Support the development of a "family planning" policy for public broadcasting to ensure the development of comprehensive but cost-effective service to the nation.
 - Immediate step: move for the adjustment of criteria used by HEW in administering Educational Broadcasting Facilities Act. Financing of new facilities needs to be coordinated with a master PTV service plan.



- 9. Extend the scope of the Act to provide for public broadcasting's participation in new delivery services resulting from technological development, such as cable television, satellite broadcasting, and home video playback devices.
- 10. Clarify the roles and responsibilities of the various elements of the public broadcasting system in guaranteeing "fairness" in programming, either through a policy statement by the CPB Board or by legislative explanation of the phrase "objectivity and balance."
- 11. Involve the private sector in program production, especially when cost efficiency is improved.
- 12. Attempt to involve the best available talent of the nation in the public broadcasting programs.

LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

Public Broadcasting Conference Aspen, Colorado July 28-30, 1972

Robert Anderson Chairman of the Board Aspen Institute

Robert Bruce Attorney, Former Director of Communications Planning, PBS

Thomas B. Curtis CPB Board Appointee

David Davis
Office of Public Broadcasting
The Ford Foundation

William Duke Director, Office of Public Affairs, CPB

Henry Goldberg Office of Telecommunications Policy, Executive Office of The President

Hartford N. Gunn, Jr. President, PBS

William Harley President, NAEB

Michael Hobbs Director of Administration PBS

Joseph Hughes CPB Board

James Killian
Chairman of the Board
MIT

Lyle Nelson Chairman, Dept. of Communication Stanford University

Ralph W. Nicholson Acting President, CPB

Ralph Rogers President, Public Television Foundation for North Texas

Robert Schenkkan Station Manager KLRM, University of Texas

Joseph Slater President Aspen Institute

William Taft
Executive Assistant to
the Director, Office of
Management & Budget
White House

Donald Webster CPB Long-range Financing Study

Nick Zapple
Communications Counsel
Committee on Commerce
U.S. Senate

OBSERVERS:

Carol Grossman Edna McConnell Clark Foundation

Rodney Rood Assistant to the Chairman Atlantic Richfield

EX OFFICIO:

Douglass Cater
Director
Communications and Society

Michael Nyhan
Communications and Society

とうことできないのであるとはないはないとうという

Bruce McKay Stanford University